School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science



### **Role of FtsH proteases in the**

### cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803

Ph.D. Thesis

### Mgr. Vendula Krynická

Supervisor: Prof. RNDr. Josef Komenda, DSc.

Institute of Microbiology Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic



České Budějovice, 2015

#### This thesis should be cited as:

Krynická, V., 2015: Role of FtsH proteases in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis sp.* PCC 6803. Ph.D. Thesis. University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Science, School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 99 p.

#### Annotation

This thesis focuses on the functional and structural characterization of FtsH proteases in *Synechocystis* PCC 6803. One of the aims was to determine localization and subunit organization of FtsH homologues in *Synechocystis* cells using GST and GFP tagged FtsH derivatives. The main result of the thesis is identification of two FtsH hetero-oligomeric complexes and one homo-oligomeric complex in *Synechocystis* cells. The large part of the thesis is aimed at establishing the role of the first hetero-oligomeric complex, FtsH2/FtsH3, in quality control of Photosystem II and at identification of a mechanism, how its substrate proteins D1 and D2 are recognized. Another part is dedicated to characterization of the second hetero-oligomeric complex, FtsH1/FtsH3, which consists of two essential FtsH homologues and which is here identified as an important regulatory element in maintaining iron homeostasis.

#### Declaration [in Czech]

Prohlašuji, že svoji disertační práci jsem vypracoval samostatně pouze s použitím pramenů a literatury uvedených v seznamu citované literatury.

Prohlašuji, že v souladu s § 47b zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. v platném znění souhlasím se zveřejněním své disertační práce, a to v úpravě vzniklé vypuštěním vyznačených částí archivovaných Přírodovědeckou fakultou elektronickou cestou ve veřejně přístupné části databáze STAG provozované Jihočeskou univerzitou v Českých Budějovicích na jejích internetových stránkách, a to se zachováním mého autorského práva k odevzdanému textu této kvalifikační práce. Souhlasím dále s tím, aby toutéž elektronickou cestou byly v souladu s uvedeným ustanovením zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. zveřejněny posudky školitele a oponentů práce i záznam o průběhu a výsledku obhajoby kvalifikační práce. Rovněž souhlasím s porovnáním textu mé kvalifikační práce s databází kvalifikačních prací Theses.cz provozovanou Národním registrem vysokoškolských kvalifikačních prací a systémem na odhalování plagiátů.

Vendula h

České Budějovice, 15. 10. 2015

Vendula Krynická

This thesis originated from a partnership of Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, and Algatech Centre, Institute of Microbiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic.



#### Financial support

This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia (128/2012/P, 04-140/2010/P and 04-160/2013/P) and the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (P501/12/G055 and P501/11/0377).

#### Acknowledgements

First of all I would like to thank to my supervisor Josef Komenda for giving me opportunity to join his team and to start the doctoral studies under his guidance. I appreciate his great patience and indulgence, pragmatic advices, valuable ideas, his enthusiasm for science and the pleasant atmosphere induced by his friendly attitude to everybody in the institute. I am also very grateful to Martin Tichý for his willingness to explaining me things from the scratch and overall help with molecular biology and to Roman Sobotka for giving me valuable advices at any time I asked him and sharing his enthusiastic scientific theories with me. My great thanks belong to my colleagues Jana Knoppová and Markéta Linhartová for teaching me most of the methodologies, and to Jana and Martina Bečková for their kindness and willingness to help me with experiments whenever needed. Moreover, I would like to thank to Martina for her help with studying agenda. My great thanks go to "Hloupá buchta" group for their kind help in the work, perfect atmosphere in the lab and for all unforgettable happenings experienced with them. In addition, I would like to thank to all the people from the institute for such a friendly atmosphere and nice parties in the Institute.

My thanks also go to Prof. Dr. Jörg Nickelsen, Prof. Annegret Wilde, Prof. Wolfgang Hess and Prof. Zoltan Gombos for a great opportunity to spend some time in their laboratories.

Of course, my special thanks belong to my family for their patience with me, especially to my husband for taking on lot of household duties after I started studying, to my daughters for being self-reliant and to my mum for helping them when I was not at home.

#### List of papers and author's contribution

The thesis is based on the following papers and manuscript (listed chronologically): Papers:

 Komenda, J., Knoppová, J., <u>Krynická, V.</u>, Nixon, P.J., and Tichý, M., (2010). Role of FtsH2 in the repair of photosystem II in mutants of the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* PCC 6803 with impaired assembly or stability of the CaMn<sub>4</sub> cluster. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1797: 566–575.

VK was responsible for collecting samples of Synechocystis mutant strains and isolation of RNA from them; she performed reverse transcription and quantitative PCR and then she analyzed and evaluated the data

- II. Boehm, M., Yu, J., <u>Krynicka, V.</u>, Barker, M., Tichy, M., Komenda, J., Nixon, P.J, and Nield, J., (2012). Subunit organization of a *Synechocystis* hetero-oligomeric thylakoid FtsH complex involved in Photosystem II repair. Plant Cell 24: 3669–3683. VK characterized the phenotype of a GST-Tagged FtsH2 derivative from Synechocystis 6803, performed all experiments with mutant deficient in FtsH3, performed all twodimensional Clear Native/SDS-PAGE analyses and contributed to writing the manuscript.
- III. <u>Krynická, V.</u>, Tichy, M., Krafl, J., Yu, J., Kaňa, R., Boehm, M., Nixon, P.J., and Komenda, J., (2014). Two essential FtsH proteases control the level of the Fur repressor during iron deficiency in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803. Molecular Microbiology 94: 609–624.

VK participated in designing most of the experiments, performed all of them with exception of confocal microscopy, processed and evaluated the data, wrote most of the manuscript

#### Manuscript:

I. <u>Krynická, V.</u>, Shao, S., Nixon, P.J., Komenda, J. Accessibility controls selective degradation of photosystem II subunits by FtsH protease (manuscript accepted in Nature Plants)

VK carried out all experiments, participated in data processing and evaluation and contributed to writing the manuscript.

Josef Komenda and Peter Nixon, the corresponding authors of listed papers, approve the contribution of Vendula Krynická in these papers as described above.

Prof. RNDr. Josef Komenda, CSc., DSc.

PNin

Prof. Peter Nixon

#### Table of contents

List o	of abbreviations	i
1.	Overview	1
1.	1 Cyanobacteria	2
	1.1.1 Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 as a model organism	2
1.	2 Proteases	4
	1.2.1 Characterization of cyanobacterial proteases	5
	1.2.1.1 ATP independent proteases	5
	1.2.1.2 ATP dependent proteases	7
1.	3 FtsH proteases	9
	1.3.1 Structural features of the FtsH protease	. 10
	1.3.1.1 Primary structure of FtsH	. 10
	1.3.1.2 Tertiary structure	. 13
	1.3.2 Function of FtsH proteases in different organisms and organelles	. 15
	1.3.2.1 FtsH in Escherichia coli	. 16
	1.3.2.2 Mitochondrial FtsHs (AAA proteases)	. 17
	1.3.2.3 FtsH in photosynthetic membranes	. 19
	1.3.2.4 Plants	. 20
	1.3.2.5 Cyanobacteria	. 22
2.	Summary	26
2.	1 Summary	. 27
3.	Results	. 30
3.	1 Published results	.31
	3.1.1 Role of FtsH2 in the repair of photosystem II in mutants of the cyanobacter	ium
	Synechocystis PCC 6803 with impaired assembly or stability of the CaMn(4) cluster	. 32
	3.1.2 Subunit organization of a <i>Synechocystis</i> hetero-oligomeric thylakoid F	tsH
	complex involved in Photosystem II repair.	. 42
	3.1.3 Two essential FtsH proteases control the level of the Fur repressor during i	ron
	deficiency in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC6803	. 58
3.	2 Unpublished results	. 75
	3.2.1 Accessibility controls selective degradation of photosystem II subunits by F	tsH
	protease	. 75
4.	Conclusions	82
4.	1 Conclusions	. 83
Refe	erences	.86

#### List of abbreviations:

A. thaliana	Arabidopsis thaliana
аа	Amino acid
AAA+	ATPases associated with various cellular activities
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATPase	Adenosintriphosphatase
CM	Cytoplasmic membrane
Cox2	Cytochrome c oxidase 2
Ctp	C-terminal processing carboxypeptidases
Deg	Degradation of periplasmic proteins
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
E. Coli	Escherichia Coli
FtsH	Filamentous temperature sensitive H
Fur	Ferric uptake regulator
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
HSP	Hereditary spastic paraplegia
HtrA	High temperature requirement A
Chl	Chlorophyll
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
Nde1	NADH dehydrogenase 1
OM	Outer membrane
PCC	Pasteur Culture Collection
PL	Phospholipids
PSI	Photosystem I
PSII	Photosystem II
RC	PSII reaction center
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SP	Signal peptidases
Spp	Signal peptide peptidases
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
ТМ	Thylakoid membrane
Тѕр	Tail specific protease
WT	Wild type

## **1. Overview**

#### 1.1 Cyanobacteria

Cyanobacteria are gram-negative bacteria performing oxygenic photosynthesis. As other oxygenic phototrophs, they are able to acquire energy from sun light for converting inorganic carbon to organic molecules needed for basic cellular functions. A secondary effect of the photosynthetic process is production of oxygen. Fossil evidence has revealed that cyanobacteria are likely more than 3.5 million years old (Schopf, 1996). Hence, cyanobacteria, as one of the earliest organisms contributing to the oxidizing atmosphere, dramatically changed the composition of life forms in nature (Schopf, 2014). Even today, cyanobacteria are responsible for a large portion of the photosynthetic production in aquatic environments and thus play an important role in global CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation and oxygen recycling (Geider *et al.*, 2001).

These prokaryotic autotrophs are able to acclimate to almost all aquatic but also terrestric habitats. Except of the water and soil, they survive in hot springs, arctic ice or desert rocks and even in volcanos (Makhalanyane *et al.*, 2015, Hagemann *et al.*, 2015, Sciuto and Moro, 2015). Due to their extreme adaptability and simplicity they became one of the most successful group of microorganisms in the world. They also became very popular in biological research starting from evolutionary studies (Shi and Falkowski, 2008) to biotechnological applications, including biofuel production or drug discovery (Ruffing, 2011).

#### 1.1.1 Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 as a model organism

Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 (hereafter Synechocystis) is one of the most frequently used model cyanobacteria. The strain was isolated from a fresh water lake and was deposited in the Pasteur Culture Collection (PCC) in 1968 (https://research.pasteur.fr/en/team/biological-resources-center). It is an unicellular organism with spherical cells of about  $1.5-2 \mu m$  in diameter. As in other gram-negative bacteria, the cell envelope consists of an outer membrane and a plasma membrane (PM), separated by the peptidoglycan containing periplasmic space. The cell interior harbours the thylakoid membranes (TM), which are organized in largely concentric layers around the periphery of the cell. In the central part are present circular fibrils of DNA and carboxysomes, microcompartments important for carbon fixation. Ribosomes are dispersed throughout the cell but are present in the highest density in the central region around the nucleoplasm (Fig. 1). Thylakoid membrane system forms the basis for processes of photosynthesis, but also for respiration, making the coordination of the biochemical reactions even more complex (Peschek *et al.*, 2004, Vermaas, 1994).

Synechocystis grows fast in both liquid and solid media. Apart from autotrophic cultivation, it is also able to grow in a wide range of conditions including mixotrophy and heterotrophy, where the only energy source is organic carbon in the form of glucose. Its cultivation is very cheap and undemanding. Another fundamental advantage of that organism is the fact that Synechocystis was the first photosynthetic organism for which the entire genome sequence was determined (Kaneko et al., 1996). Moreover, in contrast to higher plants, gene inactivation, modification and regulatable expression became routine in this organism due to natural transformation and efficient homologous recombination. Thus, this organism provides an ideal tool for targeted mutagenesis. Synechocystis, as a close relative of progenitors of plant plastids, contains photosynthetic components and maintenance systems that are similar to those of chloroplasts (Deusch et al., 2008, Falcon et al., 2010). For all these reasons, this is one of the most frequently used organisms for studies on biogenesis of photosynthetic complexes and quality control of photosynthetic apparatus (Komenda et al., 2010, Xu et al., 2004). Apart from that, it became sought for study of function of various essential proteins and mechanisms underlying diverse, universally conserved cellular processes.



**Fig.1**.Transection electron microscopic picture of WT cell of Synechocysits PCC6083 (A) and the detail of membrane organization (B); TM: thylakoid membranes; Photo made by Lenka Bučinská

#### 1.2 Proteases

Proteins, the products of gene expression, are key macromolecules guaranteeing most of the cellular processes in all living organisms. Protein molecules are continuously synthesized and degraded. The desired level of individual cellular proteins is maintained by a balance between rates of synthesis and degradation. Both phenomena, synthesis and degradation, are controlled by a series of regulated biochemical processes. Regulated proteolysis is a form of posttranslational mechanism with a direct impact on the amount of certain proteins to facilitate the immediate responses to external influences (Pruteanu and Baker, 2009, Gur *et al.*, 2011, Andersson and Aro, 1997, Adam, 2000).

The enzymes performing proteolysis are known as proteases or peptidases. They catalyse protein digestion by hydrolysis of the peptide bonds that link amino acids together inside a target protein molecule. Proteases can be divided into two large groups according to their substrate specificities: endopeptidases and exopeptidases. Exopeptidases remove single or several amino acid residues from N- or C-termini (Naqvi *et al.*, 2005, Cadel *et al.*, 2001). Endopeptidases, on the other hand, attack internal peptide bonds of a protein. The general mechanism of proteolysis involves a nucleophilic attack on the peptide carboxyl group. Depending on the nucleophile, the proteases are currently classified into six broad groups: serine, threonine, cysteine, aspartic, glutamic and metallo-proteases. Serine, cysteine and threonine proteases use a functional group (usually hydroxyl or thiol group) within the enzyme itself, while aspartic acid, glutamic acid and metallo-proteases activate a water molecule to serve as a nucleophile (Rawlings and Barrett, 1999, Rawlings *et al.*, 2014).

Protein turnover in both eukaryotes and prokaryotes play a crucial role in the key cellular processes, such as a protein quality control by removal of mistranslated or aberrant polypeptides expressed from defective RNAs (Goldberg and Dice, 1974, Luciakova *et al.*, 1999, van Wijk, 2015) or of post-translationally modified proteins that cannot return to their native, functional form. Some proteases control gene expression by direct or indirect interaction with transcription through regulation of sigma factors or transcription repressors (Herman *et al.*, 1995a, Herman *et al.*, 1995b, Zhang *et al.*, 2007b, Krynicka *et al.*, 2014). Other proteases play important role in maturation of non-active protein forms through processing (Anbudurai *et al.*, 1994, Teixeira and Glaser, 2013). Apart from that, they are involved in adaptive response to various stress conditions by regulating the level of some short-lived cytoplasmic proteins. To such stress conditions belong extreme irradiance (Adamska *et al.*, 1996, Porankiewicz *et al.*, 2015), high salinity (Gerth *et al.*, 1998), nutrient

starvation (Alexander *et al.*, 1993, Collier and Grossman, 1994) or treatment with chemical reagents (Andersson and Aro, 1997).

In eukaryotic cells, the turnover occurs in all organelles including mitochondria, chloroplasts, peroxisomes, lysosomes and vacuoles (Burgess, 1978, Hicke and Lippincott-Schwartz, 2001). Above that, a considerable part of the degradation processes also occurs in cytoplasm. A major cytoplasmic proteolytic pathway is mediated by an ubiquitin system (Ciechanover *et al.*, 1980, Ciechanover, 1998, Hershko, 1983). In this pathway substrate proteins are selectively marked for destruction with a poly-ubiquitin tag and then degraded by a proteasome (Hershko, 1983, Hershko, 1988). Ubiquitin is small polypeptide of 76 amino acids that binds covalently to lysine residues on a target protein (Hershko, 1983). Proteasome represents a highly conserved cylindrical complex with multiple protease active sites in their interior chamber digesting proteins in an ATP-dependent fashion (Glickman, 2000, De Mot *et al.*, 1999, Ciechanover and Schwartz, 1989, Ciechanover, 1998).

Unlike eukaryotes, prokaryotic cells do not comprise organelles, but the activity of their major proteolytic systems is, similarly to proteasome, spatially sequestered inside cylinder-shaped complexes forming nanocompartments, into which the selected substrates are delivered for degradation, usually under ATP consumption. The sequestration of proteolytic activity to prevent unspecific degradation of unwanted substrates is also achieved by directing proteases to specific cellular regions, such as the periplasmic space of gram-negative bacteria or the lumen of cyanobacteria. The other way how to better target the degradation process is anchoring the protease in the plasma membrane and in the case of cyanobacteria also in thylakoid membranes.

#### **1.2.1** Characterization of cyanobacterial proteases

Similar to other prokaryotic organisms, cyanobacteria control many regulatory circuits or metabolic pathways by proteolysis to facilitate the immediate responses to external stimuli. Many proteases function in ATP-dependent manner although proteolysis needs not necessarily consume energy.

#### 1.2.1.1 ATP independent proteases

In cyanobacteria there exist four main families of ATP-independent proteases: Deg, Ctp, SP and SppA.

5

The Deg (Degradation of periplasmic proteins)/HtrA (high temperature requirement A) proteases (Strauch et al., 1989, Lipinska et al., 1989), found in almost all living forms, are ATP-independent serine endopeptidases with a trypsin-type catalytic domain. They also contain up to three PDZ domains, a common structural domain of 80-90 amino-acids found in the signaling proteins of prokaryotes and eukaryotes, that interact with nonpolar Cterminal residues of their ligands and are important for substrate recognition (Iwanczyk et al., 2007). Structural studies showed that Deg/HtrA proteases form oligomeric complexes with a trimer as the basic unit (Clausen et al., 2002, Kley et al., 2011). Deg proteases are wellcharacterized in Escherichia coli and human. The E. coli DegP protease has dual chaperone and protease functions, which are regulated by temperature (Clausen et al., 2002). As a protease it is involved in degrading irreversibly damaged proteins, while as a chaperone it assists in refolding of denaturated proteins (Spiess et al., 1999). E. coli DegS can release the stress response sigma factor sigE (RpoE) by degrading its inhibition factor (Clausen et al., 2002). Human HtrA2/Omi contributes to the regulation of programmed cell death (Clausen et al., 2002). In higher plants, several Deg members were shown to be localizes in the chloroplast stroma and lumen. It was reported that Arabidopsis thaliana Deg2 is part of a larger network of enzymes that ensure protein quality control in PSII (Huesgen et al., 2009). The cyanobacterial Deg/HtrA was proposed to participate in the response to light and heat stress (Cheregi et al., 2007, Lucinski et al., 2011). Genome of Synechocystis encodes three Deg proteases known as HhoA (Sll1679), HhoB (Sll1427) and HtrA (Slr1204) which were found to be attached to the thylakoid and plasma membranes (Roberts et al., 2012). Very recently, RbcS has been identified as a natural substrate for HhoA, PsbO for HhoB and HtrA, and Pbp8 for HtrA (Tam et al., 2015). Whether Deg/HtrA proteases participate also in degradation of photoinhibited D1 protein in cyanobacteria is still under the debate (Barker et al., 2006, Huesgen et al., 2009).

Ctp proteases belong to C-terminal processing carboxypeptidases functioning as serine proteases and containing a PDZ domain (Paetzel and Dalbey, 1997). Their physiological function is less understood with the exception of CtpA which is involved in maturation of D1 protein in photoautotrophs (Oelmuller *et al.*, 1996), and the bacterial Tsp (tail-specific-protease) which is involved in removing improperly translated proteins after their SsrA tagging (Spiers *et al.*, 2002). In *Synechocystis*, there are three Ctp orthologs, encoded by *ctpA* (*slr0008*), *ctpB* (*slr0257*) and *ctpC* (*slr1751*) (Jansen *et al.*, 2003). CtpA, like in other photoautotrophs, is involved in biogenesis of Photosystem II (PSII) complex by C-terminal processing of the D1 precursor (pD1) of PSII (Anbudurai et al., 1994) and had been

6

originally located in association with plasma membrane (Zak *et al.*, 2001). However, newer data show that this protease is located in lumen similarly to plant chloroplast (Selao and Knoppová, unpublished results). On the other hand CtpB has been found in periplasmic space and CtpC in association with plasma membrane and their function is unknown.

Other protease families not possessing the ATPase activity belong to the signal peptidases SP and the signal peptide peptidases, SppA. They are transmembrane proteases with a large C-terminal domain protruding into the periplasmic space (Wang *et al.*, 2008, Zhbanko *et al.*, 2005). SPs serve a crucial role in the removal of the signal peptide after translocation of secretory protein precursors from the cytoplasmic membrane (van Roosmalen *et al.*, 2004). This removal is essential for protein release into the periplasmic or lumenal space, transport of proteins to the outer membrane in gram-negative bacteria, and secretion of proteins into the extracellular medium. In cyanobacteria were found two types of SP, SPI with serine-type peptidase activity and SPII, lipoprotein signal peptidases with aspartic-type endopeptidase activity. SppA, on the other hand, are responsible for further degradation of the signal peptide cleaved by SP. This degradation is important, because signal peptides may be harmful to the cell, as they can interfere with membrane integrity and block protein translocation via the Sec machinery (Dalbey *et al.*, 2012).

#### **1.2.1.2 ATP dependent proteases**

ATP-dependent proteases belong to a broader AAA+ superfamily of proteins (<u>A</u>TPases <u>a</u>ssociated with various cellular <u>a</u>ctivities) which combine an ATP-driven unfolding activity with the proteolysis. AAA+ proteases are self-compartmentalizing proteolytic complexes. Their active centres are sequestered in the interior of barrel or ring-shaped assemblies. The access is granted only through a narrow pore, passage of even small-sized folded proteins is not permitted. A key feature of the entry pore is the occurrence of aromatic amino acids (aa) that are important for substrate recognition and translocation (reviewed in Langklotz *et al.*, 2012, Yamada-Inagawa *et al.*, 2003, Makino *et al.*, 1999). Targeted proteins carry a degradation signal that is recognized either directly by these pore residues or indirectly via adaptor molecules. ATP hydrolysis triggers conformational changes in the AAA ring pulling the substrate towards the narrow pore, eventually resulting in unfolding and subsequent translocation events (Suno *et al.*, 2006, Bieniossek *et al.*, 2009). Proteins are processively degraded into small peptides of about 6–25 aa in length (Hersch *et al.*, 2005). Three main groups of AAA+ proteases: Clp family, FtsH proteases and Lon proteases, were found in

cyanobacteria (Kegg database - Aoki-Kinoshita and Kanehisa, 2007, CyanoBase - Nakao *et al.*, 2010).

Clp proteases are widespread soluble multisubunit protein complexes belonging to the family of serine endopeptidases (Rawlings et al., 2014). The basic structure of the Clp machinery consists of a cylinder-like or barrel-like protease core and an AAA+ chaperone ring complex. The chaperone complex serves as a molecular gate that controls substrate access, and recognizes, unfolds and translocates protein substrates into the core cavity in an ATPdependent manner. The cyanobacterial Clp system comprise two types of tetradecameric proteolytic core with catalytically active ClpP and inactive ClpR subunits, hexameric ATPdependent chaperones consist of ClpX or CpIC and adaptor proteins ClpS enhancing delivery of subsets of substrates (Nishimura and van Wijk, 2015). Most cyanobacteria contain an additional component, NbIA, which is a specific adaptor protein to deliver phycobilisome proteins to the ClpCPR system (Baier et al., 2014). In cyanobacteria Clps are important for the steady-state growth and acclimation of cells to various stresses like high light, cold stress and UV-B (Clarke, 1999, Porankiewicz et al., 1998). Cyanobacterial ClpC can prevent aggregation of unfolded proteins (Andersson et al., 2006) and in plants the Clp system appears to be essential for chloroplast biogenesis and proteostasis (Shikanai et al., 2001, Ramundo et al., 2014).

Lon proteases are ATP-dependent serine\_endopeptidases found in archaea, bacteria and eukaryotic mitochondria and peroxisomes. The Lon activity was ascribed to be essential for cellular homeostasis, mediating protein quality control and metabolic regulation (Barakat *et al.*, 1998, Lee and Suzuki, 2008). In some cyanobacteria the gene encoding Lon protease was annotated but further information regarding the gene product is missing (Kegg database - Aoki-Kinoshita and Kanehisa, 2007, CyanoBase - Nakao et al., 2010).

In contrast to other bacteria, the existence of a homologue of HsIV/U proteases was not described in cyanobacteria (Kegg database - Aoki-Kinoshita and Kanehisa, 2007, STRING database - Szklarczyk *et al.*, 2015). The heat shock proteins HsIV and HsIU (also known as ClpQ and ClpY, respectively are analogous to Clp proteases (Ramachandran et al., 2002). They are expressed in many bacteria in response to cellular stress. HsIU proteins are ATPases, while HsIV proteins are proteases with high similarity to  $\beta$  subunits of proteasomes. Therefore, the HsIVU complex has been envisaged as a precursor or ancestral type of proteasome (Gille *et al.*, 2003, Ruiz-Gonzalez and Marin, 2006).

The last group of cyanobacterial energy-dependent proteases belongs to the family of FtsH proteases described in detail in the following chapter.

8

#### 1.3 <u>FtsH proteases</u>

FtsHs (Filamentous temperature sensitive H), in case of mitochondrial enzymes also termed AAA proteases, are membrane-bound metalloproteases universally conserved in bacteria, chloroplasts and mitochondria, where they have essential function in protein turnover and processing (Langklotz et al., 2012). Among the AAA+ proteases, FtsHs are unique owing to its anchoring to the membrane. They preserved more than 40% sequence identity in various organisms like E. coli, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Homo sapiens, A. thaliana and cyanobacteria (NCBI Blast program). FtsHs are essential in many, but not all, gram-negative bacteria (Akiyama et al., 1995). Although the ftsH gene is not essential in gram-positive bacteria, ftsH deletions lead to severe pleiotropic effects. Most bacteria possess a single gene encoding FtsH, only cyanobacteria are known to encode four FtsH homologues (CyanoBase - Nakao et al., 2010, Boehm et al., 2012). Three genes are present in yeast and human mitochondria (Arnold and Langer, 2002) while 12 orthologues were found in the genome of model higher plant A. thaliana (Yu et al., 2004, Sokolenko et al., 2002). Cellular abundance of FtsHs increases in response to cellular stress (Ito and Akiyama, 2005). FtsH proteases are active toward both membrane and soluble substrates, and their activities can be divided into protein quality control: degradation of unassembled, unfolded and damaged proteins, and regulatory function: degradation of transcription regulators and short-lived regulatory proteins (Ito and Akiyama, 2005, Zhang et al., 2007b). As a member of AAA family, FtsHs convert the chemical energy stored in ATP via conformational rearrangements into the mechanical force that is used for substrate unfolding and translocation into the proteolytic chamber, where the proteins are degraded. They have a unique ability to dislocate substrate membrane proteins out of the membrane (Ito et al., 2005). However, the unfoldase activity of FtsH is very weak and data obtained in vitro using mutated apoflavodoxin proteins as a substrate for *E. coli* FtsH protease indicate, that FtsH, rather than unfolding the protein, acts on the fraction that is already unfolded (Ayuso-Tejedor et al., 2010). In addition, a chaperone-type activity of the FtsH complex has been reported for the yeast mitochondria homologue Yme1 protein (Leonhard *et al.*, 1999). In agreement with their function as quality control enzymes, FtsHs have degenerate substrate specificity and appear to mainly recognize the folding state of substrate proteins, not the amino acid sequence (Chiba et al., 2000). They are able to recognize a variety of apolar sequences becoming exposed in unfolded states to cytosol. Current results indicate that FtsH-dependent processive degradation of membrane proteins can be initiated either on N-terminal or C-terminal cytosolic tails. However, an internal region of a polypeptide, an extended cytosolic loop, can also sensitize

the protein to FtsH (Shotland *et al.*, 2000, Chiba *et al.*, 2002). The genetic manipulation of Nterminal cytosolic tails of several substrates revealed that FtsH recognized a cytosolic region of sufficient length - about 20 amino acids (Chiba *et al.*, 2000), while only ten C-terminallyexposed amino acids are sufficient for degradation (Fuhrer *et al.*, 2006). Although recognition of free ends is a common principle, the molecular basis of target interaction and membrane dislocation might differ from case to case (Chiba *et al.*, 2002). The enzyme works as endopeptidase, since its degradation products are oligopeptides containing several residues (Asahara *et al.*, 2000). FtsH complexes may interact with other proteins, forming the large membrane spanning supercomplexes. In the plasma membrane of *E. coli* FtsH exists as an exceptionally large complex containing HflC/HflK, the prohibitin-like proteins (Saikawa *et al.*, 2004). Prohibitins also regulate the activity of the m-AAA proteases in mitochondria (Langer, 2000).

#### **1.3.1** Structural features of the FtsH protease

#### 1.3.1.1 Primary structure of FtsH

Contrary to the most other AAA+ proteases, FtsHs are harbouring both ATPase and proteolytic domains on the same polypeptide chain (Ito and Akiyama, 2005) that is about 650 aa in length in most eubacteria (Fig. 2). The N-terminus contains one or two helices that anchor the protein to the respective membrane. In E. coli, a small periplasmic region is located between the two transmembrane helices. The membrane-spanning part is connected to the cytosolic part of the enzyme via a glycine-rich linker of about 15–20 aa in length (reviewed in Langklotz et al., 2012). Cytosolic moiety, the main body of the enzyme, comprises two domains, AAA module connected to the glycine-rich linker and protease domain at the C-end. The AAA moiety contains the characteristic sequence motifs of the AAA family, namely Walker A and B, necessary for binding and hydrolysis of ATP; the second region of homology (SHR) fingerprint which carries conserved arginine residues ("arginine fingers") important for oligomerization and ATP hydrolysis; and the conserved FGV pore motif required for substrate recognition and translocation (Bieniossek et al., 2009) (Fig. 2). The characteristic 'zincin' HEXXH motif (frequently HEAGH) identifies the protease active center. The active zinc ion is coordinated by the two imidazole side-chains of the HEXXH motif on a strictly conserved aspartic acid, thus classifying FtsH as a novel Asp-zincin (Bieniossek et al., 2006) (Fig. 2). At the C terminus there is a leucine-rich motif that has been

implicated in co-recognition of certain substrates (Graef *et al.*, 2007, Suno *et al.*, 2006). The C-terminal end is of variable length and is predicted to be mostly unstructured. *E. coli* FtsH has been reported to auto-catalytically clip its C terminus but the significance of this modification is unknown (Akiyama, 1999).

E. Coli Syn FtsH1 Syn FtsH2 Syn FtsH3 Syn FtsH3							MSHRPRSDR <b>H</b> S	FS <b>B</b> PSRFW}	HRLGMGLLVAG	TLADP
At chiFtsH2 At mFtsH10 At chiFtsH5		MIFSKLGSSLARSSRSKGFVY	ring a first and a single for the first of the second second second second second second second second second s 10:	QVDGGLGFMRRHMA ATTSSNPLLMSSNGL	S FAARKGLEAGDL <b>O</b> GSQIIISAPTPKT <b>O</b>	MAANSSACHMIGNGLSV Rafanpritrffsso Ikislpfsmilsrkryg	NTTTKQRLSKHF TPKKKNYENYMP ISQSEKLMKSLP	SGRQTSFS: Kdskkapki SQNALNALI	SVIR <b>D</b> SKVNVVH NEOK <b>S</b> ESRDGSH LFSS <b>S</b> SPQALAV	KAS <b>L</b> D KKNEN 7NEPV
E. Coli Syn FtsH1 Syn FtsH2 Syn FtsH3 Syn FtsH4 At chiFtsH2 At mFtsH10 At chiFtsH5	36 3 52 126 82	VSTLAQEGGEGAOPKASPSP MKFSWRTALWWSLPW MSXNNKKWRNAGUYAPL IKPOPOWQRRLASVLWWGST GKKKQDGRRDFLKILWGNAGM ENAGDAFSNEYQNMLWPLMA QPPAPTITAEAQSPNWSTFGQ	SV FQS FG PBESNO QSPNSSNGEATPRSFFNSGSPRSAE Lowgs FFWQGSFGGADANLGSNTA INMILALASAFFDRPTQTR SIMNASGKANAD PQGVSSS GIMNASGKANAD PQGVSSS NMILSTF3LGSREQQQISFQEFF NORMTAPN PQAQSSDLPD	R REAL DISTRET OF CONTRACTOR PROFINING OF DUDA DIX TRUCTOR REAL EVOL TRUCTOR REAL EVOL TRUCTOR REAL EVOL TRUCTOR REAL EVOL TRUCTOR FUSION TOWN RUSSER DIA OK -	- N DOROGER, E.A. R. HUN A. RINGOLA, KIMOLOGI TIN- - A. GRUNT FOULD WIT EN - G. DIGOLA, SAUYONG ON 27 - G. DIGOLA, SAUYONG ON 27 - K. DIGOLA, KIMOLOGY E N S. N.K. FOOL, KIMOLOGY E N - K. GRONDER, KIMOLOGI S. C. P. - K. GRONDER, KIMOLOGI S. C. P. - K. GRONDER, KIMOLOGI S. C. P.	GREINMTKKDISNRY, RROAIMTLKDAPPG3 GRTAIMQVSDPEVDB - RROQVPDPSG3 RYOLKPEAEDEGKEE GTIAIMEAVSPELG 3 OTTEEVVQGPGNGV GSVLQDTAVDNRRA	T	/ QD PK, LD N D NN P PL, LN L PN P PL, LN L PN P PL, LN L I FDL E, PK R G LS O PL, DK Y FN I G S V E S P ND PD, LD I	ILTING OKV- HRSRSETHDLF HRSSNIRHD- HRSSNIRHD- HRSNIF HRSRS HSSNI HRSSN HSSNI	VGEP INRT -SHP AVOP AAPP AHNA IGVN EGEG
			Tm2						Walk	er A
E. Coli Syn FtsH1 Syn FtsH2 Syn FtsH3 Syn FtsH4 At chiFtsH2 At chiFtsH2 At mFtsH10 At chiFtsH5	77 154 111 102 115 162 249 189	P E E = = = = = PS = = ULASUFIL PDN = = = SA = ULASUFIL VRN = = = NG = NMG FWOR QSD = = = = EG = FWOR LAST AKN = = = S = WOR LAST QED = = = - QGSV EN LAST SHD FV PV TYVSET I WO EDULA GNG = = = = = = = = -	S W EPRODUCUL LEGNUL LEENING (MOGGCEGE LEVY ADDIEGLIVY MY RESANASE OFFICIALES IN FRUERENSSING EFFICIALES IN FRUERENSSING EFFICIALES FRUERENSSING VIEFFICIALES FRUERENSSING VIEFFICIALES FRUERENSGESTIG FAPTULE MATUELES FRUEREN LEFELMARGESTIG	GA M	HISSEMULIA ML THE – DQIT HISSEMULIE FQMIE – A KITC HISSEMULIE FQMIE – A KITC HISSEMULIE FQMIE – PQMI HISSEMULIE FQMIE – PMIC HISSEMULIE FQMIE – PMIC HISSEMULIE FQMIE – PMIC	TTELS A DOWATE I DOWATE E 19 CES DOWATE I ROPATE I 19 CES DOWATE I ROPATE I		S REPORTING GE ERIO TAUGNE ERIO TAUGNE O RETAUGNE ERIO TAUGNE RED TAUGNE RED TAUGNE RED TAUGNE RED TAUGNE		GTGK GTGK GTGK GTGK GTGK GTGK GTGK
		Walker A	FGV pore	Walker B				SRH /	Arg. finger	
E. Coli Syn FisH1 Syn FisH2 Syn FisH3 Syn FisH4 At chiFisH2 At mFisH10 At chiFisH5	183 258 219 208 221 274 374 297				0 (244) A (25 - 1) (3 (25 - 21 - 20 - 21 - 21 - 21 - 21 - 21 - 21		S = M E S ( V AN) S = N S ( V AN) S = N T ( V AN) S T T A ( V V AN) S T T A ( V V AN) S = N S ( V T V AN)	2120 - 1012 (* 1014) 2120 - 1013 (* 1014) 2120 - 1014 (* 1014) 2120 - 10		YNGL TWYYA NGCA VOER LWER SOCY TWER
							Zn			
E. Coli Syn FtsH1 Syn FtsH2 Syn FtsH3 Syn FtsH4 At chIFtsH2 At mFtsH10 At chIFtsH5	306 381 342 331 346 397 498 420	ESTAMARCES EQUINIKAUTING RV PNA P ESTAMORES E LOUIN AUGEANON KRIME ESTAVORES E LOUIN AUGEANON KRIME ESTAVORES REDUINIELATEATEN RRINN ESTAVACES REDUINIKATEATEN RRINN ESTAVACES TOURINALEN AUGEATEN ESTAVACES TOURINALEN AUGEA ESTAVACES VOORMERIAATEN BEGENAMIG K	$\begin{array}{l} & (0) \\$	NICEAN I FAMILIS NERV REPORT FAMILIS NERV REPORT L'ANNER A REPORT L'ANNER A REPORT L'ANNER A REPORT L'ANNER A L'ANNER REPORT REP	W SIMVIE FEKA KORON MARAN NOLONA DRAM MELINIDOANDRAM SIMDIYINDA DRAM SIMDIYINDA SIMDIYINDA SIX DISIS DATA BAS SIX DISIS DATA BAS	MEADERESIMUATE A QUA LEMES - TENNA SESS LEMES - TENNA SES LEMES - TENNA SES LEMES - TENNA SES LEMES - TENNA SES LEMES - TENNA LEMES - TENNA LE	E S TAYHEA GHAT RLIAYHEYGHAT TGWAYER AGAA KIWAYER AGAA RUAYER AGAA RUAYER AGAA RUAYER AGEA RUAYER AGEA	I DE RIM VIE E HI I DE TIM C E GHI VIE ANMEDIA VIE ANMEDIA VIE ANMEDIA C DE TIM TE GHI A DE VIE ANME E HI VIE ANME E HI		RM L = 0000 = RM G = RM G = 0000 R = 0000 R = 0000 R = 0000 R =
				Zn						
E. Coli Syn FtsH1 Syn FtsH2 Syn FtsH3 Syn FtsH4 At chlFtsH2 At mFtsH10 At chlFtsH5	428 502 463 453 469 518 623 542	$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} Mus Fig \ Lis \ Egn \ A \ I = S \ A \ Sig \ C \ K \\ C \ Lis \ Mis \ Tis \ Distric \ C = - Gis \ Tiss \ A \ O \\ C \ Lis \ Mis \ Tis \ Distric \ C = - Gis \ Tiss \ A \ O \\ C \ Lis \ Mis \ Tis \ Distric \ C \\ C \ Lis \ Mis \ Tis \ Distric \ C \\ C \ Lis \ Mis \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ Lis \ Mis \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \ C \\ C \ C$	$0 \in S$ norm is the experimentation of the problem		R NINGUTQUZE FREK ENDE Riginio Tik I endet Riginio Tiku I endet Riginio Tikue Mais Figinio Tikue Mais Riginio Tikue Mais Rigini Tikue Mais Riginio Tikue Mais Riginio	NULYAEEEGEVIELIGR NAME EEGGEVIELIGR NAME ESGGEVIELIGR NAME GROGGVIELIGR NAME VOKGOONNELIGR NAME VOKGOONNELIGR NAME VOKGOONNELIGO	SMAK – ANGH MANDUE DYGK – INSEMMEND GTUMN – INSEMMEND DTUAS – DAUDARD INSE GMG NPIRIM VISIDD RMMA – INNSMISEK – – – – SMRDYNSMA SMSS – QIKDYNSMA		I A MIERNYN R MANMTAALOR MEDIAEOGIOM SOMMOGAYOR MEDIMEGGIN MEDIMEGGIN SENTESIS SENTESIS SENTESIS SENTESIS SENTESIS SENTESIS	
E. Coli Syn FtsH1 Syn FtsH2 Syn FtsH3 At chiFtsH2 At mFtsH10 At chiFtsH5	549 622 583 577 589 638 733 666	TON MOLTH HANKEANSKYRTOD EENRENIGD LUVEAGUS TOD CEOREWIDDI VOLUUTEGUS ENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOO ENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOO ENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOO ENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOO EENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOO EENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOO EENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOO EENREGUS OULAARIU VERSTOOL	A POIDDESS Generouses yoosokopa Magen Generouses yoosokopa Magen Shelotoma eya eya eya vy vkeomipol Generations oyo ago tuvy Generations eya ago t	n tpasmptpmav Sgfeesseken oken	- Mentembiologica		~			

**Fig. 2**: Sequence alignment of FtsH homologues. Consensus is highlighted with a black background. Key elements (adopted from Langklotz *et al.*, 2012) are indicated by yellow rectangle with description above the sequences in orange: Tm2, transmembrane helix 2 (predicted); Walker A and B, motifs responsible for ATP binding and hydrolysis; Pore, FGV pore motif; SRH, second region of homology; Arg-finger, arginine finger; Zn, zinc-ligands; FtsH homologues were abbreviated as follows and Kegg entries are given: SynFtsH1-4, *Synechocystis* FtsH homolog 1,2,3 and 4 respectively; *E.coli* FtsH - FtsH homolog from *E. coli* str. K-12 substr. Mg1655; At chl FtsH2: chloroplastic ATP-dependent zinc metalloprotease FtsH 2 from *A.thaliana*; At chl FtsH5: chloroplastic ATP-dependent zinc metalloprotease FtsH10 from *A.thaliana*.

#### 1.3.1.2 Tertiary structure

The hydrophobic properties of the apoprotein make difficult crystallization of the entire FtsH complex. Therefore, little is known about the transmembrane N-terminal regions which are dispensable for protease activity (Ito and Akiyama, 2005). Recently, the structural analysis of recombinant periplasma region of FtsH from E. coli (aa residues 25–96) revealed a compact monomeric  $\alpha + \beta$  fold comprising two  $\alpha$ -helices and five  $\beta$ -strands. The hexameric ring has been constructed by crystallographic symmetry from monomers having a disk-like shape of approximately 5–7 nm in diameter and 2.5 nm in height (Scharfenberg et al., 2015). More detailed structural data were obtained using crystallized soluble part of the protein containing both ATPase and protease domain and lacking transmembrane segment. Initially, by analogy with the soluble ATP-dependent proteases a hexameric ring-like structure has been constructed by homology modelling (Krzywda et al., 2002). More recently, other crystal structures of isolated FtsH AAA domains from Thermus thermophilus, Helicobacter pylori and human paraplegin have been published (Suno et al., 2006, Karlberg et al., 2009, Kim et al., 2008). All these structures agree in monomer fold and a general hexameric assembly with dimensions of about 10 nm in diameter and 6.5 nm in height. The fold of the AAA moiety is canonical with a wedge-shaped N-terminal subdomain consisting of five stranded parallel beta sheets surrounded by  $\alpha$ -helices on both sides and a C-terminal four-helix bundle. The proteolytic domain is nearly all-helical, comprising 6  $\alpha$ -helices and a short piece of  $\beta$ structure (reviewed in Langklotz et al., 2012). The crystal of the ATPase domain of Thermus thermophilus FtsH shows inter-subunit contacts, involving both electrostatic and

hydrophobic interactions of subunits, to form a hexameric structure (Niwa *et al.*, 2002). The cytosolic region fully retains an ATP-dependent protease activity and adopts a three-fold-symmetric hexameric structure. The protease domains displayed a six-fold symmetry, while the AAA domains, each containing ADP, alternate two orientations relative to the protease domain, making "open" and "closed" interdomain contacts. Apparently, ATPase is active only in the closed form, and protease operates in the open form. The protease catalytic sites are accessible only through a tunnel following from the AAA domain of the adjacent subunit, raising a possibility of translocation of polypeptide substrate to the protease sites through this tunnel (Suno *et al.*, 2006). Nucleotides bind to the Walker A motif (also called P-loop) located close to the cleft between the two subdomains. ATP hydrolysis is coupled to up and down movements of conserved loops contacting the substrate in the central pore of the ATPase ring (Hinnerwisch *et al.*, 2005, Martin *et al.*, 2008). These conformational changes could be responsible for an inward movement of the substrate into the proteolytic part of protease in which it is degraded (Bieniossek *et al.*, 2009).

Only recently, a low resolution electron cryomicroscopic structure of the whole mitochondrial FtsH protein complex from yeast was obtained (Lee et al., 2011) (Fig. 3). This enzyme consists of hetero-hexamer Yta10 and Yta12 subunits. Its transmembrane part localized in the inner membrane of mitochondria, as well as its intermembrane space segments are clearly separated from the main body of the complex. The main soluble part of the enzyme faces mitochondrial matrix. The detailed structure model answers the question, how soluble and membrane-integral protein substrates enter the protease. This study revealed a 13 Å wide gap between the main hexamer body and the N-terminal transmembrane segment, which is large enough to accommodate unfolded region of polypeptides. After binding the substrate to the AAA domain, this gap might enable a guided transfer of the unfolded region to the central pore of the AAA ring (Cha et al., 2010). Minimal length of 20 amino acid residue of unfolded segment corresponds to the distance between the initial substrate binding site and the central pore loops of the AAA ring. Unfolded segment is then threaded into the proteolytic chamber of protease domain, where it is degraded, and the cleaved peptides are released through nearby lateral openings (Lee et al., 2011, Cha et al., 2010).



**Fig. 3**. Cryo-EM structure of an intact yeast m-AAA protease. The structure of the Trap-ATP hexamer is shown as isosurface representation with the transmembrane domain coloured green, the intermembrane space domain gold, and the matrix domain gray. A: top down view, B: top down view of the main body only, C: side view, and D: vertical central section. The meshed density is contoured at a lower threshold to show the connectivity between the transmembrane segments and the AAA ring.

Adopted from Lee et al., 2011, Journal of Biological Chemistry

#### 1.3.2 Function of FtsH proteases in different organisms and organelles

FtsHs exert versatile activities in almost all living organisms on the planet, starting with bacteria, ending with mammalian cells. They were found to degrade non-native proteins to peptides, regulate level of some short-lived cytosolic proteins, mediate the specific processing on certain substrates to promote their biogenesis and were even found to exert non-proteolytic functions (reviewed in Langklotz *et al.*, 2012). Mutations in different

mitochondrial FtsH subunits are associated with different neurodegenerative disorders in human.

#### 1.3.2.1 FtsH in Escherichia coli

The first available information on FtsH proteases comes from *Escherichia coli*. Its genome possesses a single *ftsH* gene, which is crucial for cell viability. The gene product assembles into a homo-hexameric complex that interacts with HfIK–HfIC membrane protein complex forming a large complex, termed FtsH holo-enzyme (Saikawa *et al.*, 2004). This complex can be separated from membrane protein fraction after detergent solubilization and velocity sedimentation. It appears to have molecular mass of around 1000 kDa with an ability to bind one or a few substrate molecules (Ito and Akiyama, 2005).

FtsH holo-enzyme plays a crucial role in the membrane protein quality control. It degrades the membrane  $\alpha$  subunit of F<sub>0</sub> sector of the ATP synthase and SecY membrane proteins when they are not assembled with their partner proteins to form the ATP synthase or the SecYEG translocase, respectively (Akiyama *et al.*, 1996, Schumann, 1999). SecY degradation by FtsH also occurs when the translocase is blocked (van Stelten *et al.*, 2009) and in this way FtsH may affect the biosynthesis of membrane components. *E. coli* FtsH holoenzyme also degrades YccA, a protein of unknown function that seems to be linked to biofilm formation (Beloin *et al.*, 2004, Kihara *et al.*, 1998).

The FtsH protease is also required for degradation of many cytoplasmic substrates in *E. coli*. It regulates level of cytosolic short lived proteins like a heat shock sigma factor RpoH ( $\sigma$ 32). Upon heat shock the bacterial cell has to cope with unfolded and aggregated proteins. This initializes the expression of genes coding for molecular chaperones, which in *E. coli* are tightly controlled by the RpoH (Guisbert *et al.*, 2008). Upon physiological temperature, the RpoH protein is destabilized by attachment of DnaK/J chaperons and in this form it is destined for degradation by FtsH (Guisbert *et al.*, 2008). Upshifts in temperature are indirectly sensed by the amounts of denatured proteins, which titrate DnaK/J away from RpoH. Released RpoH is bound into stable complex with RNA polymerase which initiates the transcription of heat shock genes (Nonaka *et al.*, 2006).

FtsH also plays a role in phage  $\lambda$  infection since it degrades a short lived  $\lambda$ CII transcriptional factor (Nonaka *et al.*, 2006, Schumann, 1999) and in this way starts the phage lytic pathway (Shotland *et al.*, 1997). Another phage  $\lambda$  protein,  $\lambda$ IXis, is also degraded by the FtsH protease and is responsible for excision of phage DNA from the bacterial genome (Leffers and Gottesman, 1998).

FtsH also participates in the degradation of SsrA-tagged cytosolic proteins in *E. coli*. To enable ribosome recycling and removal of aberrant proteins from the cell, the SsrA-tag is added to stalled nascent chains during translation. The SsrA-tag consists of 11 residues and represents a general degradation signal for ClpAP/XP, Lon and FtsH (Herman *et al.*, 1998).

Finally, FtsH helps to maintain a balance in the lipid composition of the membrane by degrading LpxC, the regulatory enzyme in the pathway of bacterial lipid A biosynthesis. This FtsH function is essential for viability of E. coli (Ito and Akiyama, 2005). As other gramnegative bacteria, E. Coli is surrounded by outer membrane containing lipopolysacharides (LPSs) which form permeable barrier of the membrane. LPSs consist of a polysaccharide Oantigen, a core oligosaccharide and lipid A (Wang et al., 2010). Lipid A is a hydrophobic anchor of LPS in the outer membrane. Both excess and deficiency of lipid A are toxic for E. coli, thus the rate of LPS synthesis is strictly controlled by FtsH via proteolysis of the LpxC enzyme. Initial precursor for lipid A is also a precursor for the synthesis of phospholipids (PL). Impaired regulation of the LpxC level thus enhances LPS synthesis at the expense of phospholipids. Viability of  $\Delta ftsH$  cells is permitted by a suppressor mutation, which rebalances the LPS to PL ratio. This mutation compensates for LpxC stabilization by increased activity of FabZ, the key enzyme of PL biosynthesis (Ogura et al., 1999). Moreover, FtsH has a second function in regulation of LPS biosynthesis as it also degrades the KDO glycosyl transferase KdtA, another enzyme of LPS biosynthetic pathway, which is anchored in the plasma membrane. In any case, the above mentioned enumeration of functions executed by FtsH in *Escherichia Coli* demonstrates the important role of FtsH in diverse cellular processes.

#### 1.3.2.2 Mitochondrial FtsHs (AAA proteases)

Two types of AAA protease complexes with different topology, i-AAA and m-AAA, are found in the inner membrane of yeast (Leonhard *et al.*, 1996), mammalian (Coppola *et al.*, 2000) and plant (Lindahl *et al.*, 1996) mitochondria. The i-AAA proteases span the inner membrane once and expose their catalytic domains to the mitochondrial intermembrane space. On the other hand, the m-AAA proteases with two transmembrane regions have their active sites directed toward the matrix. In yeast mitochondria two AAA complexes are present: the homo-oligomeric i-AAA complex composed of Yme1 subunits and the hetero-oligomeric m-AAA complex built of homologous Yta10 (Afg3) and Yta12 (Rca1) subunits (Leonhard *et al.*, 1996, Arlt *et al.*, 1996). Mammalian mitochondria also contain a single homo-oligomeric i-AAA complex (Stiburek *et al.*, 2012) but, unlike yeast, they have multiple m-AAA complexes. Two such complexes from human mitochondria have been described: a hetero-oligomeric one composed of paraplegin and AFG3L2 subunits, and a homo-oligomeric one assembled from AFG3L2 subunits alone (Atorino *et al.*, 2003, Koppen *et al.*, 2007). In mice three types of m-AAA complexes have been found: one hetero-oligomeric AFG3L1/paraplegin and two homo-oligomeric composed of AFG3L1 or AFG3L2 (Koppen *et al.*, 2007). All mammalian isoenzymes are able to complement for the loss of the m-AAA protease in yeast, showing their functional conservation and functional redundancy between mammalian m-AAA proteases (Atorino *et al.*, 2003). Similarly to the mammals, two *A. thaliana* m-AAA proteases, AtFtsH3 and AtFtsH10, are able to form hetero-oligomeric as well as homo-oligomeric complexes (Piechota *et al.*, 2010). Based on the transcript and protein abundance, the homo-oligomeric complex of AtFtsH3 is predominant in *A. thaliana* mitochondria. While in yeast and mammals only one homo-oligomeric i-AAA complex exists, in *A. thaliana* two mitochondrial i-AAA proteases, AtFtsH4 and AtFtsH11, form two independent homo-oligomeric complexes (Urantowka *et al.*, 2005, reviewed in Janska *et al.*, 2013).

The *m*-AAA protease assembles with prohibitins into a large supercomplex in yeast and mammals (Steglich *et al.*, 1999, Metodiev, 2005). Prohibitins are multimeric complexes embedded in the mitochondrial inner membrane composed of the highly conserved subunits prohibitin 1 (Phb1) and prohibitin 2 (Phb2) (Steglich *et al.*, 1999, Nijtmans *et al.*, 2000, Artal-Sanz *et al.*, 2003). Deletion of prohibitins in yeast results in accelerated protein degradation by the *m*-AAA protease suggesting a function of prohibitins in regulation of *m*-AAA activity (Steglich *et al.*, 1999). However, neither the molecular mechanism of this regulation nor conservation of this regulatory function in mammals is known.

The main function of mitochodrial AAA/FtsH proteases is selective degradation of non-assembled, incompletely assembled and/or damaged membrane-anchored proteins. (Nolden *et al.*, 2005, Koppen and Langer, 2007). A limited number of substrates of the protein quality control have been identified for yeast and human i- and m-AAA proteases. Unassembled subunits of the respiratory chain complexes and non-native inner membrane proteins, which expose unfolded segments either to the inner membrane space or to the matrix, belong to this class of substrate proteins (Nakai *et al.*, 1995, Weber *et al.*, 1996). The *m*-AAA protease was shown to degrade a number of non-assembled mitochondrially encoded respiratory chain subunits of Complex II, IV and V and a peripheral membrane subunit of Complex V, ATP7 (Arlt *et al.*, 1996, Korbel *et al.*, 2004). Deletion of the *m*-AAA protease in yeast results in respiratory deficiency due to the loss of assembled respiratory chain and ATP synthase complexes (Arlt *et al.*, 1998, Galluhn and Langer, 2004). So far, only a few quality control substrates of the *i*-AAA protease have been identified. These include the

unassembled integral membrane proteins cytochrome *c* oxidase subunit 2 (Cox2), prohibitin 1 and prohibitin 2 as well as the soluble NADH dehydrogenase (Nde1) (Pearce and Sherman, 1995, Weber *et al.*, 1996, Kambacheld *et al.*, 2005). These substrates are completely degraded to oligopeptides, which are subsequently degraded to amino acids by mitochondrial oligopeptidases or released from mitochondria. No substrates of the protein quality control of the plant mitochondrial AAA proteases have been identified so far. However, it has been suggested that the oxidatively damaged mitochondrial proteins are substrates of the i-AAA proteases in *A. thaliana* mitochondria (Kicia *et al.*, 2010).

Apart from quality control executed by means of protein degradation, m-AAAs can also activate cellular regulatory proteins by proteolytic processing (Rape and Jentsch, 2004). m-AAA is required for maturation of mitochondrial ribosomal protein MrpL32, allowing its association with preassembled ribosomal particles and completion of ribosome assembly in close proximity to the inner membrane (Nolden *et al.*, 2005). Consequently, inactivation of m-AAA proteases causes mitochondrial-translation defect resulting in a reduced synthesis of mitochondria-encoded proteins, such as a proteins of respiratory chain. Genetic experiments demonstrated that growth defects associated with the loss of the m-AAA protease in yeast as well as in mouse are caused by impaired processing of MrpL32 which thus represents the central function of the m-AAA protease in mitochondria (Nolden *et al.*, 2005).

In generall, defects in genes encoding mitochondrial m-AAA proteases cause pleiotropic phenotype in various organisms. Mutations in different m-AAA protease subunits are associated with different neurodegenerative disorders in human. For instance, several loss-of-function in paraplegin cause autosomal recessive hereditary spastic paraplegia (HSP) complicated by optic, cerebellar and cerebral atrophy. Although muscle biopsies from severely affected patients revealed defects in mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (Casari *et al.*, 1998, McDermott *et al.*, 2001, Wilkinson *et al.*, 2004), the molecular basis of these phenotypes is still not fully understood and remains to be explored.

#### **1.3.2.3** FtsH in photosynthetic membranes

Photoautotrophic organisms, as cyanobacteria and green plants, encode FtsH homologues targeted to the thylakoid membrane. Due to their localization these FtsH proteases are expected to be responsible for quality control of protein complexes required in photosynthesis (Lindahl *et al.*, 2000). Photosynthesis is a unique process that utilizes energy of photons to convert carbon dioxide into organic compounds with concomitant release of

19

oxygen as a very important side product (Whitmarsh and Govindjee, 1999). During the lightdependent phase of photosynthesis, energy of photons is transferred onto special chlorophyll (Chl) molecules located in photosystem II (PSII) and photosystem I (PSI), large pigment-protein complexes embedded within thylakoid membrane. Excitation of these pigments drive photosynthetic electron flow used for synthesis of ATP and reduced compounds. Due to unusual photochemical properties of PSII reaction center (RC) needed for extraction of electrons from water, PSII is permanently damaged by light and especially excessive light may limit growth by irreversibly inactivating PSII complexes causing phenomenon called photoinhibition of photosynthesis. Photochemical activity of PSII in light is maintained via so called repair cycle, which involves several steps resulting in the restoration of photochemical activity of the photodamaged PSII (Nixon et al., 2005, Bailey et al., 2002). The main target for photodamage in PSII is the RC D1 protein and its inactive form needs to be quickly replaced by a newly synthesized intact copy. This fast replacement is demonstrated by high turnover of the protein (Bottomle.W et al., 1974) and FtsHs were shown to play key role in this replacement (Bailey et al., 2002, Silva et al., 2003, Komenda et al., 2007). Light-induced inactivation of PSII is accompanied by a signal, which triggers degradation of the damaged D1. Nature of this signal is not known but before the degradation, destabilization of the binding of the PSII antenna protein CP43 must also occur to allow access of the protease to the D1 protein. After the "old" D1 protein is replaced, a complete reassembly of PSII including re-binding of CP43 follows and finally the photochemical activity and oxygen evolution is activated (reviewed in Nixon et al., 2010).

#### 1.3.2.4 Plants

The nuclear genome of *Arabidopsis thaliana* contains 12 genes encoding FtsH proteins, eight of them are targeted exclusively to chloroplasts (AtFtsH1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 12) whereas other three are mitochondrial (AtFtsH 3, 4, and 10) (reviewed in Janska *et al.*, 2010). AtFtsH11 is double targeted to both organelles (Urantowka *et al.*, 2005). In addition, five *Arabidopsis* FtsH-like proteins (FtsHi1 to FtsHi5) targeted to the chloroplast envelope lack the conserved zinc binding motif HGXXH and are presumably inactive as protease (reviewed in Wagner *et al.*, 2012, see also Arabidopsis proteome databases - Ferro *et al.*, 2010). Eight genes encoding active chloroplast targeted FtsH homologues can be divided into four highly-conserved pairs (Sakamoto *et al.*, 2003, Sakamoto *et al.*, 2010) of which only four isomers FtsH1, 2, 5 and 8 accumulate in *Arabidopsis* leaves grown under optimal conditions. AtFtsH2

is by far the most abundant species and is followed by AtFtsH5, 8 and 1 (Sinvany-Villalobo et al., 2004). Characterization of FtsH homologues in Arabidopsis indicates that they most probably form hetero-oligomeric complexes consisting of FtsH5/FtsH1- type A and FtsH2/FtsH8 - type B homologues (Yu et al., 2004). AtFtsH2 and AtFtsH5 represent major isoforms of the hetero-complex, AtFtsH1 and AtFtsH8 appear to function as auxiliary minor components. The members of one type have sequence identity of about 90%, and can partly substitute each other in the complex. The identity between the members of type A and type B is close to 50%. (NCBI/Blast program). Depletion or mutation in genes encoding major isoforms causes the variegation phenotype typical by a combination of green sectors containing normal appearing chloroplast and white sectors containing abnormal plastids, that lack pigments and organized lamellae (Sakamoto et al., 2002). The variegation phenotype implies that certain threshold level of FtsHs is necessary for proper chloroplast development, primarily in early stages of thylakoid formation (Yu et al., 2005). Complementation of variegation phenotype with an inducible FtsH expression suggests that the overall FtsH level predominantly determines the chloroplast development when the protease activity is in excess (Sakamoto et al., 2010). The threshold depends on the developmental stage and environmental conditions and the fate of cells is determined at an early stage of plastid development (Zaltsman et al., 2005, Kato et al., 2007). Several suppressor-of-variegation mutants were described to compensate for the lack of AtFtsH2 during early chloroplast biogenesis (Liu et al., 2010b, Liu et al., 2010a, Liu et al., 2010c). Interestingly, most of these suppressors are involved in the coupled processes of chloroplast ribosomal RNA (rRNA) processing and translation. This has given rise to the hypothesis that reductions in chloroplast translation are able to compensate for a lack of AtFtsH2 by lowering the threshold demand for FtsH in the population of developing chloroplasts (Miura et al., 2007, Liu et al., 2010a). Interestingly, it was demonstrated that leaf variegation of plants lacking both Type B isomers (AtFtsH2, AtFtsH8) could be rescued by expressing a proteolytically inactive AtFtsH2, suggesting dispensability of protease activity of these isomers for proper chloroplast development (Zhang et al., 2010). This results can imply that variegated phenotype is independent of proteolysis and only the chaperone function of the complex is responsible for the correct thylakoid formation (Wagner et al., 2012). Except of variegation phenotype, inactivation of AtFtsH proteases also causes inhibition of the D1 turnover after PSII photodamage (Bailey et al., 2002). Other substrates have also been reported for AtFtsH1, 2, 5 and 8, like Rieske protein of the pea cytochrome b6-f complex (Ostersetzer and Adam, 1997) and cytochrome b6 in Chlamydomonas (Malnoe et al., 2014).

Four active FtsH homologues (AtFtsH7, 9, 11 and 12), and five inactive FtsH homologue were found in the *A. thaliana* chloroplast envelope membrane (Wagner *et al.*, 2012). Not much is known about the function of AtFtsH7, AtFtsH9 and AtFtsH12. AtFtsH7 and AtFtsH9 derived from recent gene duplication (Garcia-Lorenzo *et al.*, 2006), therefore it seems likely that these proteases have similar functions and they even might form a complex (Wagner *et al.*, 2012). Single deletion mutants of both proteases do not cause any phenotype. Based on co-expression studies, the existence of other complex consisting of AtFtsH12 and one of the inactive FtsHs (FtsHi) is speculated (Wagner *et al.*, 2012). The oligomeric state of the remaining chloroplast FtsH proteases in *A. thaliana*, AtFtsH11 and AtFtsH6, as well as the thylakoid location and function is unknown for these proteases. Deletion of corresponding genes resulted in no significant phenotype (Wagner *et al.*, 2011). Sequence analysis showed that AtFtsH6 homologues also exist in other plant species (Garcia-Lorenzo *et al.*, 2006). This evolutionary conservation indicates that FtsH6 most probably play an important, but so far unknown role in the chloroplast.

#### 1.3.2.5 Cyanobacteria

Unlike other gram-negative bacteria, cyanobacteria encode more than one, usually four, FtsH homologues that are located both in plasma and thylakoid membrane. The most intensive studies of the cyanobacterial FtsH have been performed on cyanobacterium Synechocystis PCC 6803. The genome of Synechocystis encodes four FtsH homologues designated FtsH1-4 (corresponding genes slr1390, slr0228, slr1603 and sll1463, respectively). FtsH1 and FtsH3 are crucial for cell viability, so it is not possible to delete their genes. In contrast, FtsH2 and FtsH4 are dispensable proteins. Deletion of FtsH4 have not resulted in any apparent phenotypic change of the mutant grown under standard conditions (Mann et al., 2000). On the other hand, inactivation of FtsH2 protease have induced very significant phenotypical changes in the mutant like a decrease in the level of PSI and related lower chlorophyll content (Mann et al., 2000) and non-functional PSII repair reflected by inhibited D1 turnover and high light sensitivity (Mann et al., 2000, Silva et al., 2003). For that reason, great effort has been devoted to further studies of the FtsH2 role in this organism. The obtained results confirmed that the most relevant physiological function of the FtsH2 homologue is related to the above mentioned degradation of the D1 protein during PSII repair cycle in vivo. Using several Synechocystis mutants with the truncated N-terminus of D1, a model for FtsH mediated D1 degradation has been developed (Komenda et al., 2007).

This model assumes that the PSII photodamage leads to conformational changes within PSII which allow better access of FtsH to the N-terminus of D1. In agreement with the mechanism described above for *E. coli* (Chiba *et al.*, 2000), interaction of FtsH with the sufficiently long N-terminus initiates the degradation process which then occurs processively up to the C-terminus of D1. Indeed, truncation of its N-terminus by 20 aa residues inhibits the D1 degradation (Komenda *et al.*, 2007). The effect of the FtsH2 absence on the accumulation and degradation of PSII proteins was analyzed in WT and also in PSII mutants that are not able to assemble the functional PSII complex. In these mutants the process is stopped at a certain stage of the assembly and cannot proceed further due to a specific mutation. In these strains PSII subunits are typically inserted into the membrane and can be detected either in the unassembled state or are assembled into assembly intermediate sub-complexes, which are usually rapidly degraded and fail to accumulate to appreciable levels (Vermaas *et al.*, 1988). The results showed that FtsH2 is needed for the removal of both unassembled PSII subunits and non-functional partially assembled PSII sub-complexes (Vermaas *et al.*, 1988, Komenda *et al.*, 2006).

Apart from the function in PSII repair-related D1 degradation and quality control of other PSII membrane proteins, characterization of FtsH2-less mutant also showed that the protease might be involved in acclimation of the cell to various stress conditions. During salt stress, it controls the level of glucosylglycerol phosphate synthase involved in osmoregulation (Stirnberg *et al.*, 2007). FtsH2 is also involved in acclimation to low carbon conditions via regulation of the level of NdhR which is a transcriptional repressor controlling transcription of genes required for induction of carbon-concentrating mechanisms (Zhang *et al.*, 2007a). Unlike in WT, in the FtsH2 protease mutant the CCM complexes like NDH dehydrogenase, SbtA and CmpA, all inducible by low CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, were not induced upon shift to low CO<sub>2</sub>. Also the transcripts of the inducible CCM genes and their regulator *ndhR* failed to accumulate upon shift of FtsH2 mutant cells from high to low CO<sub>2</sub>, indicating that the regulation by the FtsH2 protease is upstream of NdhR (Zhang *et al.*, 2007a, Zhang *et al.*, 2007b). We assume that the above mentioned list of various processes in which FtsH2 participates is still incomplete, and that not only FtsH2 but also other not yet studied homologues may be implicated in regulating other cellular processes.

Interestingly, recent research indicated a large increase in the levels of FtsH1, FtsH2 and FtsH3 upon iron depletion in *Synechocystis* (Wegener *et al.*, 2010). For cyanobacteria, iron belongs to one of the essential elements because it is a constituent of many proteins involved in photosynthetic electron transport chain. In spite of the fact that iron is very

abundant element on the Earth, the iron limitation is very common phenomenon due to highly oxidizing environment. High concentration of oxygen in the atmosphere causes oxidation of soluble ferrous ions to ferric ones, which are nearly insoluble under normal conditions (Breitbarth *et al.*, 2010). While iron limitation has obvious consequences, bacteria also have to maintain a tight control over iron acquisition because free intracellular iron can react with superoxide and hydrogen peroxide forming highly reactive hydroxyl radicals (Guerinot and Yi, 1994). Thus, cyanobacterial iron homeostasis is tightly controlled, both at the protein level through incorporation of free metal ions into metallo-proteins (Lewin *et al.*, 2005) and more importantly at the transcriptional level through the regulated expression of genes encoding metal trafficking proteins, including uptake and storage proteins (Ghassemian and Straus, 1996, Hernandez-Prieto *et al.*, 2012).

This mechanism is mediated by transcriptional factor Fur, ferric uptake regulator. (Escolar *et al.*, 1999, Gonzalez *et al.*, 2012). Fur protein binds iron as a cofactor under iron sufficiency which enhances its affinity for AT-rich DNA elements termed Fur-boxes, present in the core promoters of iron-regulated genes (Escolar *et al.*, 1997, Yu and Genco, 2012). Binding to DNA causes either repression or activation of DNA transcription which slows down the process of iron uptake. On the contrary, under iron limitation iron-free Fur (apo-Fur) has a reduced affinity for the Fur-boxes allowing the RNA polymerase to initiate transcription of genes encoding metal-trafficking proteins and hence iron uptake. This regulation responds rapidly to change in environmental conditions and allows maintaining stable concentration of intracellular iron (Hernandez *et al.*, 2006, Yu and Genco, 2012). Whether the increase in the level of FtsHs under iron depletion could indicate involvement of FtsHs in the acclimation to iron deficiency remains an interesting topic for further research.

The current information about localization, architecture and composition of FtsH complexes in *Synechocystis* is also spare. The preliminary data showed that FtsH2, as well as FtsH4, are localized in the thylakoid membrane (Komenda *et al.*, 2006). The location of essential FtsH3 and FtsH1 homologues also remains to be clearly specified. Previous investigations based on mass spectrometric analysis of cytoplasmic and thylakoid membranes purified by a combination of sucrose-gradient centrifugation and two-phase separation (Huang *et al.*, 2002) indicated that FtsH3 is present in both membranes while FtsH1 was found just in the cytoplasmic membrane fraction (Pisareva *et al.*, 2007, Pisareva *et al.*, 2011). On the other hand, the architecture and composition of high-molecular FtsH complexes in *Synechocystis* as well as the function of the three FtsH homologues has been

24

completely unknown. However, FtsHs appear to be important players in diverse cellular processes and therefore they provided a valuable object for our research.

## 2. Summary

#### 2.1 <u>Summary</u>

FtsHs/m-AAAs are transmembrane metalloproteases universally conserved in bacteria, chloroplasts and mitochondria, having an essential function in protein turnover and processing, and maintaining cellular homeostasis. In many bacteria, they are crucial for cell viability. In various eukaryotic organisms, defects in genes encoding mitochondrial FtsH proteases cause pleiotropic phenotype including morphology defects and respiratory deficiencies. In humans, these defects are especially associated with different neurodegenerative disorders. In plants, FtsHs are necessary for proper chloroplast development, primarily in early stages of thylakoid formation. They are also key players in ongoing photosynthesis, specifically in quality control of Photosystem II in many phototrophic organisms. Some molecular mechanisms, by which FtsHs control other cellular processes like response to stress conditions, remain to be clarified.

My thesis was dedicated to the research of cellular function of FtsH proteases in the model cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. As other cyanobacteria, this strain contains four FtsH homologues, FtsH1-FtsH4. Most of the previous studies in *Synechocystis* were focused on the FtsH2 homologue playing an important role in quality control of PSII during photosynthesis (Komenda et al., 2006). However, the mechanism of PSII quality control as well as a structural arrangement of the FtsH2 in a complex was still unclear. It was also unknown whether the FtsH2 forms a homo-oligomeric complex or, more probably, sets up hetero-oligomeric complexes with other FtsH homologues as proposed for chloroplasts. Moreover, the information on the remaining homologues was completely missing. The aim of my thesis was to clarify structural relationship between the FtsH homologues and to elucidate their localization and function in the cells of *Synechocystis*.

The first publication specifies in more detail the role of FtsH2 in quality control of PSII. It focuses on the analysis of the synthesis, assembly and degradation of PSII proteins in mutants of *Synechocystis* either lacking the important extrinsic oxygen-evolving enhancer proteins or unable to completely process the precursor of the D1 protein. The lack of the extrinsic proteins accelerated the turnover of the D1 protein and decreased the accumulation of PSII complexes in the mutant cells. Additional inactivation of the ftsH2 gene resulted in a drastic slowing down in the degradation of D1 and other PSII proteins and an increase in the level of PSII complexes. Overall we concluded that FtsH2 plays a major role in the degradation of D1 assembled into larger core complexes during donor-side photoinhibition. However, in mutants blocked at an early stage of PSII assembly,

unassembled D1 protein was still efficiently degraded in the absence of FtsH2 pointing to the involvement of other protease(s).

The second article clarifies structural relationship between the FtsH homologues including architecture and composition of the FtsH complexes in vivo. We analyzed the composition of FtsH complexes using 2D electrophoretic protein analysis of membranes isolated from various FtsH mutants in combination with immunoblotting using FtsH-specific antibodies. Moreover, we employed GST-tagged derivatives of the FtsH homologues to purify and analyze their native complexes. The existence of three oligomeric complexes in vivo, one homo-oligomeric and two hetero-oligomeric complexes, was revealed. We focused namely on the study of the FtsH2/FtsH3 hetero-oligomeric complex. It was purified using GST-tagged FtsH2 and was subjected to single particle analysis which confirmed its hexameric architecture. Finally, using a mutant limited in expression of the FtsH3 homologue, we demonstrated the role of FtsH3 in D1 turnover. We concluded that the FtsH2/FtsH3 hetero-complex is responsible for the quality control of PSII, the role previously attributed only to the FtsH2 homologue.

In the third article we studied the role of the second hetero-oligomeric complex existing in *Synechocystis* in vivo, the essential FtsH1/FtsH3 complex. As both FtsH1 and FtsH3 are indispensable for cell viability, inactivation of their genes and subsequent characterization of resulting null mutants was not possible. To overcome this problem, we prepared conditional knock-down mutants, in which we were able to down-regulate the expression of desired proteases. As the mutants conditionally depleted in FtsH1 or FtsH3 were unable to induce normal expression of the IsiA chlorophyll-protein and FutA1 iron transporter upon iron deficiency we focused on the role of FtsH1/FtsH3 complex in the response of Synechocystis cells to iron deficiency and in maintaining iron homeostasis. We demonstrated that FtsH1/FtsH3 complex regulates transcription of iron depletion-induced genes by controlling the level of the transcriptional regulator Fur (SII0567). We also analyzed location of various FtsH homologues in cells expressing GFP (green fluorescent protein) tagged versions of FtsHs by the assessment of GFP fluorescence (in comparison with chlorophyll fluorescence) using confocal microscopy. This analysis confirmed location of both FtsH1 and FtsH3 in the cytoplasmic membrane. Our preliminary results obtained from genome-wide expression profiling and two-dimensional protein analyses of mutants conditionally depleted in FtsH1 and/or FtsH3 show that the FtsH1/FtsH3 complex could also be implicated in the acclimation of cells to phosphate stress as well as in the transcriptional regulation of the level of some house-keeping proteins like ribosomal proteins (unpublished

28

results). We assume that by controlling the level of certain transcriptional factors the FtsH1/FtsH3 complex works as a transcriptional supervisor, which is crucial for cellular homeostasis and response of the organism to various environmental stresses.

The last study included in my thesis explores the mechanism of substrate recognition in PSII quality control. Our experiments employed *Synechocystis* mutants blocked at specific stages of PSII assembly incubated in the dark to prevent protein photodamage and in the presence of lincomycin to prevent possible protein resynthesis. We concluded that the principal prerequisite for the recognition of D1 and D2 proteins by protease is their accessibility induced by incomplete PSII assembly or its partial disassembly and to the protein damage itself. We suggest that damaged D1 is recognised and selectively degraded because of partial or complete detachment of CP43 from damaged PSII complexes which thereby directs the proteolytic machinery towards D1 rather than D2 degradation. Using FtsH2/FtsH3-lacking versions of the employed mutants we also confirmed the crucial role of this protease complex in the dark PSII degradation.

## 3. Results

#### 3.1 <u>Published results</u>

### **3.1.1** Role of FtsH2 in the repair of photosystem II in mutants of the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* PCC 6803 with impaired assembly or stability of the CaMn(4) cluster.

Reprint of: Komenda, J., Knoppová, J., <u>Krynická, V.</u>, Nixon, P.J., and Tichý, M. (2010). Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1797: 566–575.

#### Abstract:

The FtsH2 protease, encoded by the *slr0228* gene, plays a key role in the selective degradation of photodamaged D1 protein during the repair of Photosystem II (PSII) in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. To test whether additional proteases might be involved in D1 degradation during high rates of photodamage, we have studied the synthesis and degradation of the D1 protein in  $\Delta PsbO$  and  $\Delta PsbV$ mutants, in which the CaMn4 cluster catalyzing oxygen evolution is less stable, and in the D1 processing mutants, D1-S345P and  $\Delta$ CtpA, which are unable to assemble a functional cluster. All four mutants exhibited a dramatically increased rate of D1 degradation in high light compared to the wild-type. Additional inactivation of the ftsH2 gene slowed the rate of D1 degradation dramatically and increased the level of PSII complexes. We conclude that FtsH2 plays a major role in the degradation of both precursor and matureforms of D1 following donor-side photoinhibition. However, this conclusion concerned only D1 assembled into larger complexes containing at least D2 and CP47. In the ΔpsbEFLJ deletion mutant blocked at an early stage in PSII assembly, unassembled D1 protein was efficiently degraded in the absence of FtsH2 pointing to the involvement of other protease(s). Significantly, the ΔPsbO mutant displayed unusually low levels of cellular chlorophyll at extremely low-light intensities. The possibilities that PSII repair may limit the availability of chlorophyll for the biogenesis of other chlorophyll-binding proteins and that PsbO might have a regulatory role in PSII repair are discussed.

## **3.1.2** Subunit organization of a *Synechocystis* hetero-oligomeric thylakoid FtsH complex involved in Photosystem II repair.

Reprint of: Boehm, M., Yu, J., <u>Krynicka, V</u>., Barker, M., Tichy, M.,Komenda, J., Nixon, P.J, and Nield, J. (2012). Plant Cell 24: 3669–3683

#### Abstract:

FtsH metalloproteases are key components of the photosystem II (PSII) repair cycle, which operates to maintain photosynthetic activity in the light. Despite their physiological importance, the structure and subunit composition of thylakoid FtsH complexes remain uncertain. Mutagenesis has previously revealed that the four FtsH homologs encoded by the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp PCC 6803 are functionally different: FtsH1 and FtsH3 are required for cell viability, whereas FtsH2 and FtsH4 are dispensable. To gain insights into FtsH2, which is involved in selective D1 protein degradation during PSII repair, we used a strain of Synechocystis 6803 expressing a glutathione S-transferase (GST)-tagged derivative (FtsH2-GST) to isolate FtsH2containing complexes. Biochemical analysis revealed that FtsH2-GST forms a heterooligomeric complex with FtsH3. FtsH2 also interacts with FtsH3 in the wild-type strain, and a mutant depleted in FtsH3, like ftsH22 mutants, displays impaired D1 degradation. FtsH3 also forms a separate heterocomplex with FtsH1, thus explaining why FtsH3 is more important than FtsH2 for cell viability.We investigated the structure of the isolated FtsH2-GST/FtsH3 complex using transmission electron microscopy and single-particle analysis. The three-dimensional structural model obtained at a resolution of 26 Å revealed that the complex is hexameric and consists of alternating FtsH2/FtsH3 subunits.

## **3.1.3** Two essential FtsH proteases control the level of the Fur repressor during iron deficiency in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803.

Reprint of: <u>Krynická, V</u>., Tichy, M., Krafl, J., Yu, J., Kaňa, R., Boehm, M., Nixon, P.J., and Komenda, J. (2014). Molecular Microbiology 94: 609–624

#### Abstract:

The cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 expresses four different FtsH protease subunits (FtsH1-4) that assemble into specific homo- and heterocomplexes. The FtsH2/FtsH3 complex is involved in photoprotection but the physiological roles of the other complexes, notably the essential FtsH1/FtsH3 complex, remain unclear. Here we show that the FtsH1 and FtsH3 proteases are involved in the acclimation of cells to iron deficiency. A mutant conditionally depleted in FtsH3 was unable to induce normal expression of the IsiA chlorophyll-protein and FutA1 iron transporter upon iron deficiency due to a block in transcription, which is regulated by the Fur transcriptional repressor. Levels of Fur declined in the WT and the FtsH2 null mutant upon iron depletion but not in the FtsH3 downregulated strain. Asimilar stabilizing effect on Fur was also observed in a mutant conditionally depleted in the FtsH1 subunit. Moreover, a mutant overexpressing FtsH1 showed reduced levels of Fur and enhanced accumulation of both IsiA and FutA1 even under iron sufficiency. Analysis of GFP-tagged derivatives and biochemical fractionation supported a common location for FtsH1 and FtsH3 in the cytoplasmic membrane. Overall we propose that degradation of the Fur repressor mediated by the FtsH1/FtsH3 heterocomplex is critical for acclimation to iron depletion.

#### 3.2 Unpublished results

### **3.2.1** Accessibility controls selective degradation of photosystem II subunits by FtsH protease.

Krynická, V., Shao, S., Nixon, P.J., Komenda, J, manuscript accepted in Nature Plants

#### Abstract:

The oxygen-evolving photosystem II (PSII) complex located in chloroplasts and cyanobacteria is sensitive to light-induced damage which unless repaired causes reduction in photosynthetic capacity and growth. Although a potential target for crop improvement, the mechanism of PSII repair remains unclear. The D1 reaction center protein is the main target for photodamage, with repair involving the selective degradation of the damaged protein by FtsH protease. How a single damaged PSII subunit is recognised for replacement is unknown. Here, we have tested dark stability of PSII subunits in strains of the cyanobacterium Synechocystis PCC 6803 blocked at specific stages of assembly. We have found that when D1, which is normally shielded by the CP43 subunit, becomes exposed in a photochemically active PSII complex lacking CP43, it is selectively degraded by FtsH even in the dark. Removal of the CP47 subunit, which increases accessibility of FtsH to the D2 subunit, induced dark degradation of D2 at a faster rate than that of D1. In contrast CP47 and CP43 are resistant to degradation in the dark. Our results indicate that protease accessibility induced by PSII disassembly is an important determinant in the selection of the D1 and D2 subunits to be degraded by FtsH.

# 4. Conclusions

#### 4.1 <u>Conclusions</u>

This PhD thesis contributed to characterization of the FtsH complexes present in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. It elucidates the localization and composition of these complexes and further specifies their role. The thesis consists of one first-author publication, two co-author publications and one first-author manuscript accepted for publication. The main conclusions are as follows:

- One homo-oligomeric complex consisting of FtsH4 and two hetero-oligomeric complexes, FtsH2/FtsH3 and FtsH1/FtsH3, exist in *Synechocystis* PCC 6803 (Boehm *et al.*, 2012, Krynicka *et al.*, 2014). Although the existence of any other hetero-oligomeric or homo-oligomeric complex was not excluded completely, we did not obtain any experimental support for this possibility.
- The most abundant FtsH2/FtsH3 complex is located in the thylakoid membranes, whereas the less abundant, essential FtsH1/FtsH3 is located in plasma membrane (Krynicka *et al.*, 2014). The FtsH4 homo-oligomeric complex is located in well-defined spots within the thylakoid membrane (unpublished data).
- The FtsH2/FtsH3 complex is a hexamer consisting of regularly alternating FtsH2 and FtsH3 subunits. This holoenzyme is responsible for the quality control of PSII previously ascribed just to FtsH2 (Boehm *et al.*, 2012). As there is no evidence that FtsH2 subunit is assembled in other functional complex in vivo, we suggest that FtsH2/FtsH3 hetero-oligomer is responsible also for other functions previously attributed to FtsH2 (Fig. 4).
- FtsH2/FtsH3 complex plays a major role in the degradation of both precursor and mature forms of D1 assembled into larger complexes containing at least D2 and CP47 (Komenda *et al.*, 2010). However, the unassembled D1 forms present in the cell of the D2-less strain are still quickly degraded even in the absence of the FtsH2/FtsH3 complex suggesting the role of additional protease. However, the photodamage of the D1 and D2 subunits within PSII is not necessary for their recognition by FtsH complex. When they become accessible to the protease, both subunits can be degraded in the dark even in a photochemically active PSII complex. It means that accessibility of D1 and D2 determined by PSII conformation and/or partial disassembly, is an important determinant in the selection of these subunits for degradation by FtsH. Unlike D1 and D2, the CP47 and CP43 subunits of PSII are resistant to degradation in the dark.

• FtsH1/FtsH3 is involved in the acclimation of cells to iron deficiency. It regulates transcription of iron depletion-induced genes by controlling the level of the transcriptional regulator Fur (SII0567) (Fig. 5) (Krynicka *et al.*, 2014).



**Fig. 4.** Scheme of FtsH2/FtsH3 complex and its role in the cell. TM, thylakoid membrane; PSII, photosystem II; CCM, carbon concentrating mechanism; -CO<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> limitation; HL, high light, Cytb6f, cytochrome b6f complex; Rieske - Rieske complex.



**Fig. 5.** Model for regulation of *isiA /isiB* expression by FtsH1/FtsH3 complex via controlling the level of apo-Fur. A, B: Repression of *isiA/isiB* transcription under iron sufficiency by binding of Fur-Fe dimer to promoter in WT (A) and in FtsH3down and/or FtsH1down, mutants limited in the level of FtsH3 and/or FtsH1proteases, respectively (B). C: Trancription of *isiA/isiB* under iron deficiency in WT. Fur loses iron and resulting apo-Fur with lower affinity to DNA is released to cytoplasm, where it is degraded by FtsH1/FtsH3. Concurrently, RNA polymerase binding site is not blocked and *isiA/isiB* is transcribed. D: Repression of *isiA/isiB* transcription under iron deficiency in mutants. Fur loses iron, becomes released to cytoplasm where it is accumulated due to missing FtsH1/FtsH3 complex. Accumulated apo-Fur can dimerize even without iron and may, although with lower affinity, bind to promoter inhibiting transcription of *isiA/isiB* gene by RNA polymerase.

#### References

- Adam, Z., (2000) Chloroplast proteases: Possible regulators of gene expression? *Biochimie* **82**: 647-654.
- Adamska, I., Lindahl, M., RoobolBoza, M., and Andersson, B., (1996) Degradation of the lightstress protein is mediated by an ATP-independent, serine-type protease under lowlight conditions. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **236**: 591-599.
- Akiyama, Y., (1999) Self-processing of FtsH and its implication for the cleavage specificity of this protease. *Biochemistry* **38**: 11693-11699.
- Akiyama, Y., Kihara, A., and Ito, K., (1996) Subunit a of proton ATPase F-0 sector is a substrate of the FtsH protease in Escherichia coli. *Febs Letters* **399**: 26-28.
- Akiyama, Y., Yoshihisa, T., and Ito, K., (1995) FtsH, a membrane-bound ATPase, forms a complex in the cytoplasmic membrane of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **270**: 23485-23490.
- Alexander, D. M., Damerau, K., and Stjohn, A. C., (1993) Carbohydrate uptake genes in *Escherichia coli* are induced by carbon starvation. *Current Microbiology* **27**: 335-340.
- Anbudurai, P. R., Mor, T. S., Ohad, I., Shestakov, S. V., and Pakrasi, H. B., (1994) The *ctpA* gene encodes the C-terminal processing protease for the D1 protein of the photosystem II reaction center complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **91**: 8082-8086.
- Andersson, B., and Aro, E. M., (1997) Proteolytic activities and proteases of plant chloroplasts. *Physiologia Plantarum* **100**: 780-793.
- Andersson, F. I., Blakytny, R., Kirstein, J., Turgay, K., Bukau, B., Mogk, A., et al., (2006) Cyanobacterial ClpC/HSP100 protein displays intrinsic chaperone activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281: 5468-5475.
- Aoki-Kinoshita, K. F., and Kanehisa, M., (2007) Gene annotation and pathway mapping in KEGG. In: Methods in Molecular Biology. N. H. Bergman (ed). pp. 71-91.
- Arlt, H., Steglich, G., Perryman, R., Guiard, B., Neupert, W., and Langer, T., (1998) The formation of respiratory chain complexes in mitochondria is under the proteolytic control of the m-AAA protease. *Embo Journal* **17**: 4837-4847.
- Arlt, H., Tauer, R., Feldmann, H., Neupert, W., and Langer, T., (1996) The YTA10-12 complex, an AAA protease with chaperone-like activity in the inner membrane of mitochondria. *Cell* 85: 875-885.
- Arnold, I., and Langer, T., (2002) Membrane protein degradation by AAA proteases in mitochondria. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research* **1592**: 89-96.
- Artal-Sanz, M., Tsang, W. Y., Willems, E. M., Grivell, L. A., Lemire, B. D., van der Spek, H., et al., (2003) The mitochondrial prohibitin complex is essential for embryonic viability and germline function in Caenorhabditis elegans. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 278: 32091-32099.
- Asahara, Y., Atsuta, K., Motohashi, K., Taguchi, H., Yohda, M., and Yoshida, M., (2000) FtsH recognizes proteins with unfolded structure and hydrolyzes the carboxyl side of hydrophobic residues. *Journal of Biochemistry* **127**: 931-937.
- Atorino, L., Silvestri, L., Koppen, M., Cassina, L., Ballabio, A., Marconi, R., et al., (2003) Loss of m-AAA protease in mitochondria causes complex I deficiency and increased sensitivity to oxidative stress in hereditary spastic paraplegia. *Journal of Cell Biology* 163: 777-787.

- Ayuso-Tejedor, S., Nishikori, S., Okuno, T., Ogura, T., and Sancho, J., (2010) FtsH cleavage of non-native conformations of proteins. *Journal of Structural Biology* **171**: 117-124.
- Baier, A., Winkler, W., Korte, T., Lockau, W., and Karradt, A., (2014) Degradation of Phycobilisomes in Synechocystis sp PCC6803. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289: 11755-11766.
- Bailey, S., Thompson, E., Nixon, P. J., Horton, P., Mullineaux, C. W., Robinson, C., et al., (2002) A critical role for the Var2 FtsH homologue of Arabidopsis thaliana in the photosystem II repair cycle in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 2006-2011.
- Barakat, S., Pearce, D. A., Sherman, F., and Rapp, W. D., (1998) Maize contains a Lon protease gene that can partially complement a yeast pim1-deletion mutant. *Plant Molecular Biology* **37**: 141-154.
- Barker, M., de Vries, R., Nield, J., Komenda, J., and Nixon, P. J., (2006) The Deg proteases protect Synechocystis sp PCC 6803 during heat and light stresses but are not essential for removal of damaged D1 protein during the photosystem two repair cycle. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry **281**: 30347-30355.
- Beloin, C., Valle, J., Latour-Lambert, P., Faure, P., Kzreminski, M., Balestrino, D., et al., (2004)
  Global impact of mature biofilm lifestyle on Escherichia coli K-12 gene expression.
  Molecular Microbiology 51: 659-674.
- Bieniossek, C., Niederhauser, B., and Baumann, U. M., (2009) The crystal structure of apo-FtsH reveals domain movements necessary for substrate unfolding and translocation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**: 21579-21584.
- Bieniossek, C., Schalch, T., Bumann, M., Meister, M., Meier, R., and Baumann, U., (2006) The molecular architecture of the metalloprotease FtsH. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**: 3066-3071.
- Boehm, M., Yu, J., Krynicka, V., Barker, M., Tichy, M., Komenda, J., *et al.*, (2012) Subunit Organization of a Synechocystis Hetero-Oligomeric Thylakoid FtsH Complex Involved in Photosystem II Repair. *Plant Cell* **24**: 3669-3683.
- Bottomle, W., Spencer, D., and Whitfeld, P. R., (1974) Protein synthesis in isolated spinach chloroplasts: comparison of light-driven and ATP-driven synthesis. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **164**: 106-117.
- Breitbarth, E., Achterberg, E. P., Ardelan, M. V., Baker, A. R., Bucciarelli, E., Chever, F., et al., (2010) Iron biogeochemistry across marine systems progress from the past decade. Biogeosciences 7: 1075-1097.
- Burgess, J., (1978) Plant-cells without walls. *Nature* 275: 588-589.
- Cadel, S., Foulon, T., Balogh, A., Gouzy, C., Piesse, C., Thoidis, G., et al., (2001) Aminopeptidase B: cellular localisation, biochemical and molecular properties. In: Cell-Surface Aminopeptidases: Basic and Clinical Aspects. S. Mizutani & A. J. Turner (eds). pp. 365-369.
- Casari, G., De Fusco, M., Ciarmatori, S., Zeviani, M., Mora, M., Fernandez, P., *et al.*, (1998) Spastic paraplegia and OXPHOS impairment caused by mutations in paraplegin, a nuclear-encoded mitochondrial metalloprotease. *Cell* **93**: 973-983.
- Cha, S.-S., An, Y. J., Lee, C. R., Lee, H. S., Kim, Y.-G., Kim, S. J., *et al.*, (2010) Crystal structure of Lon protease: molecular architecture of gated entry to a sequestered degradation chamber. *Embo Journal* **29**: 3520-3530.

- Cheregi, O., Sicora, C., Kos, P. B., Barker, M., Nixon, P. J., and Vass, I., (2007) The role of the FtsH and Deg proteases in the repair of UV-B radiation-damaged photosystem II in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis PCC 6803. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Bioenergetics* **1767**: 820-828.
- Chiba, S., Akiyama, Y., and Ito, K., (2002) Membrane protein degradation,by FtsH can be initiated from either end. *Journal of Bacteriology* **184**: 4775-4782.
- Chiba, S., Akiyama, Y., Mori, H., Matsuo, E., and Ito, K., (2000) Length recognition at the N-terminal tail for the initiation of FtsH-mediated proteolysis. *Embo Reports* **1**: 47-52.
- Ciechanover, A., (1998) The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway: on protein death and cell life. *Embo Journal* **17**: 7151-7160.
- Ciechanover, A., Heller, H., Elias, S., Haas, A. L., and Hershko, A., (1980) ATP-dependent conjugation of reticulocyte proteins with the polypeptide required for protein degradation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America-Biological Sciences* **77**: 1365-1368.
- Ciechanover, A., and Schwartz, A. L., (1989) How are substrates recognized by the ubiquitinmediated proteolytic system? *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **14**: 483-488.
- Clarke, A. K., (1999) ATP-dependent Clp proteases in photosynthetic organisms A cut above the rest! *Annals of Botany* **83**: 593-599.
- Clausen, T., Southan, C., and Ehrmann, M., (2002) The HtrA family of proteases: Implications for protein composition and cell fate. *Molecular Cell* **10**: 443-455.
- Collier, J. L., and Grossman, A. R., (1994) A small polypeptide triggers complete degradation of light-harvesting phycobiliproteins in nutrient-deprived cyanobacteria. *Embo Journal* **13**: 1039-1047.
- Coppola, M., Pizzigoni, A., Banfi, S., Bassi, M. T., Casari, G., and Incerti, B., (2000) Identification and characterization of YME1L1, a novel paraplegin-related gene. *Genomics* **66**: 48-54.
- CyanoBase Nakao, M., Okamoto, S., Kohara, M., Fujishiro, T., Fujisawa, T., Sato, S., *et al.*, (2010) CyanoBase: the cyanobacteria genome database update 2010. *Nucleic Acids Research* **38**: D379-D381.
- Dalbey, R. E., Wang, P., and van Dijl, J. M., (2012) Membrane Proteases in the Bacterial Protein Secretion and Quality Control Pathway. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **76**: 311-330.
- De Mot, R., Nagy, I., Walz, J., and Baumeister, W., (1999) Proteasomes and other selfcompartmentalizing proteases in prokaryotes. *Trends in Microbiology* **7**: 88-92.
- Deusch, O., Landan, G., Roettger, M., Gruenheit, N., Kowallik, K. V., Allen, J. F., *et al.*, (2008) Genes of cyanobacterial origin in plant nuclear genomes point to a heterocystforming plastid ancestor. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **25**: 748-761.
- Escolar, L., deLorenzo, V., and PerezMartin, J., (1997) Metalloregulation in vitro of the aerobactin promoter of Escherichia coli by the Fur (ferric uptake regulation) protein. *Molecular Microbiology* **26**: 799-808.
- Escolar, L., Perez-Martin, J., and De Lorenzo, V., (1999) Opening the iron box: Transcriptional metalloregulation by the fur protein. *Journal of Bacteriology* **181**: 6223-6229.
- Falcon, L. I., Magallon, S., and Castillo, A., (2010) Dating the cyanobacterial ancestor of the chloroplast. *Isme Journal* **4**: 777-783.

- Ferro, M., Brugiere, S., Salvi, D., Seigneurin-Berny, D., Court, M., Moyet, L., et al., (2010) AT\_CHLORO, a Comprehensive Chloroplast Proteome Database with Subplastidial Localization and Curated Information on Envelope Proteins. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics* 9: 1063-1084.
- Fuhrer, F., Langklotz, S., and Narberhaus, F., (2006) The C-terminal end of LpxC is required for degradation by the FtsH protease. *Molecular Microbiology* **59**: 1025-1036.
- Galluhn, D., and Langer, T., (2004) Reversible assembly of the ATP-binding cassette transporter Mdl1 with the F1F0-ATP synthase in mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**: 38338-38345.
- Garcia-Lorenzo, M., Sjodin, A., Jansson, S., and Funk, C., (2006) Protease gene families in Populus and Arabidopsis. *Bmc Plant Biology* **6**.
- Geider, R. J., Delucia, E. H., Falkowski, P. G., Finzi, A. C., Grime, J. P., Grace, J., et al., (2001)
  Primary productivity of planet earth: biological determinants and physical constraints in terrestrial and aquatic habitats. *Global Change Biology* 7: 849-882.
- Gerth, U., Kruger, E., Derre, I., Msadek, T., and Hecker, M., (1998) Stress induction of the Bacillus subtilis clpP gene encoding a homologue of the proteolytic component of the Clp protease and the involvement of ClpP and ClpX in stress tolerance. *Molecular Microbiology* **28**: 787-802.
- Ghassemian, M., and Straus, N. A., (1996) Fur regulates the expression of iron-stress genes in the cyanobacterium Synechococcus sp strain PCC 7942. *Microbiology-Uk* **142**: 1469-1476.
- Gille, C., Goede, A., Schloetelburg, C., Preissner, R., Kloetzel, P. M., Gobel, U. B., *et al.*, (2003) A comprehensive view on proteasomal sequences: Implications for the evolution of the proteasome. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **326**: 1437-1448.
- Glickman, M. H., (2000) Getting in and out of the proteasome. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology* **11**: 149-158.
- Goldberg, A. L., and Dice, J. F., (1974) Intracellular protein degradation in mammalian and bacterial cells. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* **43**: 835-869.
- Gonzalez, A., Teresa Bes, M., Valladares, A., Luisa Peleato, M., and Fillat, M. F., (2012) FurA is the master regulator of iron homeostasis and modulates the expression of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis genes in Anabaena sp PCC 7120. Environmental Microbiology 14: 3175-3187.
- Graef, M., Seewald, G., and Langer, T., (2007) Substrate recognition by AAA(+) ATPases: Distinct substrate binding modes in ATP-dependent protease Yme1 of the mitochondrial intermembrane space. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **27**: 2476-2485.
- Guerinot, M. L., and Yi, Y., (1994) Iron nutritious, noxious, and not readily available. *Plant Physiology* **104**: 815-820.
- Guisbert, E., Yura, T., Rhodius, V. A., and Gross, C. A., (2008) Convergence of molecular, modeling, and systems approaches for an understanding of the Escherichia coli heat shock response. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **72**: 545-+.
- Gur, E., Biran, D., and Ron, E. Z., (2011) Regulated proteolysis in Gram-negative bacteria how and when? *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **9**: 839-848.
- Hagemann, M., Henneberg, M., Felde, V. J. M. N. L., Drahorad, S. L., Berkowicz, S. M., Felix-Henningsen, P., et al., (2015) Cyanobacterial Diversity in Biological Soil Crusts along a Precipitation Gradient, Northwest Negev Desert, Israel. *Microbial Ecology* **70**: 219-230.

- Herman, C., Lecat, S., D'Ari, R., and Bouloc, P., (1995a) Regulation of the heat-shock response depends on divalent metal ions in an hflB mutant of Escherichia coli. *Mol Microbiol* **18**: 247-255.
- Herman, C., Thevenet, D., Bouloc, P., Walker, G. C., and D'Ari, R., (1998) Degradation of carboxy-terminal-tagged cytoplasmic proteins by the Escherichia coli protease HflB (FtsH). Genes & Development 12: 1348-1355.
- Hernandez-Prieto, M. A., Schon, V., Georg, J., Barreira, L., Varela, J., Hess, W. R., et al., (2012) Iron Deprivation in Synechocystis: Inference of Pathways, Non-coding RNAs, and Regulatory Elements from Comprehensive Expression Profiling. G3-Genes Genomes Genetics 2: 1475-1495.
- Hernandez, J. A., Lopez-Gomollon, S., Muro-Pastor, A., Valladares, A., Bes, M. T., Peleato, M. L., et al., (2006) Interaction of FurA from Anabaena sp PCC 7120 with DNA: A reducing environment and the presence of Mn2+ are positive effectors in the binding to isiB and furA promoters. *Biometals* 19: 259-268.
- Hersch, G. L., Burton, R. E., Bolon, D. N., Baker, T. A., and Sauer, R. T., (2005) Asymmetric interactions of ATP with the AAA+ ClpX(6) unfoldase: Allosteric control of a protein machine. *Cell* **121**: 1017-1027.
- Hershko, A., (1983) Ubiquitin: roles in protein modification and breakdown. *Cell* **34**: 11-12.
- Hershko, A., (1988) Ubiquitin-mediated protein degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **263**: 15237-15240.
- Hicke, L., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J., (2001) Membranes and sorting Editorial overview. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **13**: 429-430.
- Hinnerwisch, J., Fenton, W. A., Furtak, K. J., Farr, G. W., and Horwich, A. L., (2005) Loops in the central channel of ClpA chaperone mediate protein binding, unfolding, and translocation. *Cell* **121**: 1029-1041.
- Huang, F., Parmryd, I., Nilsson, F., Persson, A. L., Pakrasi, H. B., Andersson, B., et al., (2002)
  Proteomics of Synechocystis sp strain PCC 6803 Identification of plasma membrane
  proteins. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics* 1: 956-966.
- Huesgen, P. F., Schuhmann, H., and Adamska, I., (2009) Deg/HtrA proteases as components of a network for photosystem II quality control in chloroplasts and cyanobacteria. *Research in Microbiology* **160**: 726-732.
- Ito, K., and Akiyama, Y., (2005) Cellular functions, mechanism of action, and regulation of FtsH protease. In: Annual Review of Microbiology. pp. 211-231.
- Iwanczyk, J., Damjanovic, D., Kooistra, J., Leong, V., Jomaa, A., Ghirlando, R., et al., (2007) Role of the PDZ domains in Escherichia coli DegP protein. *Journal of Bacteriology* 189: 3176-3186.
- Jansen, T., Kidron, H., Soitamo, A., Salminen, T., and Maenpaa, P., (2003) Transcriptional regulation and structural modelling of the Synechocystis sp PCC 6803 carboxyl-terminal endoprotease family. *Fems Microbiology Letters* **228**: 121-128.
- Janska, H., Kwasniak, M., and Szczepanowska, J., (2013) Protein quality control in organelles -AAA/FtsH story. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research* **1833**: 381-387.
- Janska, H., Piechota, J., and Kwasniak, M., (2010) ATP-dependent proteases in biogenesis and maintenance of plant mitochondria. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Bioenergetics* **1797**: 1071-1075.

- Kambacheld, M., Augustin, S., Tatsuta, T., Muller, S., and Langer, T., (2005) Role of the novel metallopeptidase MoP112 and saccharolysin for the complete degradation of proteins residing in different subcompartments of mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **280**: 20132-20139.
- Kaneko, T., Sato, S., Kotani, H., Tanaka, A., Asamizu, E., Nakamura, Y., et al., (1996) Sequence analysis of the genome of the unicellular cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. strain PCC6803. II. Sequence determination of the entire genome and assignment of potential protein-coding regions. DNA research : an international journal for rapid publication of reports on genes and genomes 3: 109-136.
- Karlberg, T., van den Berg, S., Hammarstrom, M., Sagemark, J., Johansson, I., Holmberg-Schiavone, L., *et al.*, (2009) Crystal Structure of the ATPase Domain of the Human AAA plus Protein Paraplegin/SPG7. *Plos One* **4**.
- Kato, Y., Miura, E., Matsushima, R., and Sakamoto, W., (2007) White leaf sectors in yellow variegated2 are formed by viable cells with undifferentiated plastids. *Plant Physiology* **144**: 952-960.
- Kicia, M., Gola, E. M., and Janska, H., (2010) Mitochondrial protease AtFtsH4 protects ageing Arabidopsis rosettes against oxidative damage under short-day photoperiod. *Plant signaling & behavior* **5**: 126-128.
- Kihara, A., Akiyama, Y., and Ito, K., (1998) Different pathways for protein degradation by the FtsH/HflKC membrane-embedded protease complex: An implication from the interference by a mutant form of a new substrate protein, YccA. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **279**: 175-188.
- Kim, S. H., Kang, G. B., Song, H.-E., Park, S. J., Bea, M.-H., and Eom, S. H., (2008) Structural studies on Helicobacter pylori ATP-dependent protease, FtsH. *Journal of Synchrotron Radiation* 15: 208-210.
- Kley, J., Schmidt, B., Boyanov, B., Stolt-Bergner, P. C., Kirk, R., Ehrmann, M., et al., (2011) Structural adaptation of the plant protease Deg1 to repair photosystem II during light exposure. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 18: 728-731.
- Komenda, J., Barker, M., Kuvikova, S., de Vries, R., Mullineaux, C. W., Tichy, M., et al., (2006) The FtsH protease slr0228 is important for quality control of photosystem II in the thylakoid membrane of Synechocystis sp PCC 6803. Journal of Biological Chemistry 281: 1145-1151.
- Komenda, J., Knoppova, J., Krynicka, V., Nixon, P. J., and Tichy, M., (2010) Role of FtsH2 in the repair of Photosystem II in mutants of the cyanobacterium Synechocystis PCC 6803 with impaired assembly or stability of the CaMn4 cluster. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Bioenergetics* 1797: 566-575.
- Komenda, J., Tichy, M., Prasil, O., Knoppova, J., Kuvikova, S., de Vries, R., *et al.*, (2007) The exposed N-terminal tail of the D1 subunit is required for rapid D1 degradation during photosystem II repair in Synechocystis sp PCC 6803. *Plant Cell* **19**: 2839-2854.
- Koppen, M., and Langer, T., (2007) Protein degradation within mitochondria: Versatile activities of AAA proteases and other peptidases. *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* **42**: 221-242.
- Koppen, M., Metodiev, M. D., Casari, G., Rugarli, E. I., and Langer, T., (2007) Variable and tissue-specific subunit composition of mitochondrial m-AAA protease complexes linked to hereditary spastic paraplegia. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **27**: 758-767.

- Korbel, D., Wurth, S., Kaser, M., and Langer, T., (2004) Membrane protein turnover by the m-AAA protease in mitochondria depends on the transmembrane domains of its subunits. *Embo Reports* **5**: 698-703.
- Krynicka, V., Tichy, M., Krafl, J., Yu, J., Kana, R., Boehm, M., *et al.*, (2014) Two essential FtsH proteases control the level of the Fur repressor during iron deficiency in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp PCC 6803. *Molecular Microbiology* **94**: 609-624.
- Krzywda, S., Brzozowski, A. M., Verma, C., Karata, K., Ogura, T., and Wilkinson, A. J., (2002) The crystal structure of the AAA domain of the ATP-dependent protease FtsH of Escherichia coli at 1.5 angstrom resolution. *Structure* **10**: 1073-1083.
- Langer, T., (2000) AAA proteases: cellular machines for degrading membrane proteins. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **25**: 247-251.
- Langklotz, S., Baumann, U., and Narberhaus, F., (2012) Structure and function of the bacterial AAA protease FtsH. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research* **1823**: 40-48.
- Lee, I., and Suzuki, C. K., (2008) Functional mechanics of the ATP-dependent Lon proteaselessons from endogenous protein and synthetic peptide substrates. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Proteins and Proteomics* **1784**: 727-735.
- Lee, S., Augustin, S., Tatsuta, T., Gerdes, F., Langer, T., and Tsai, F. T. F., (2011) Electron Cryomicroscopy Structure of a Membrane-anchored Mitochondrial AAA Protease. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **286**: 4404-4411.
- Leffers, G. G., and Gottesman, S., (1998) Lambda Xis degradation in vivo by lon and ftsH. *Journal of Bacteriology* **180**: 1573-1577.
- Leonhard, K., Herrmann, J. M., Stuart, R. A., Mannhaupt, G., Neupert, W., and Langer, T., (1996) AAA proteases with catalytic sites on opposite membrane surfaces comprise a proteolytic system for the ATP-dependent degradation of inner membrane proteins in mitochondria. *Embo Journal* **15**: 4218-4229.
- Leonhard, K., Stiegler, A., Neupert, W., and Langer, T., (1999) Chaperone-like activity of the AAA domain of the yeast Yme1 AAA protease. *Nature* **398**: 348-351.
- Lewin, A., Moore, G. R., and Le Brun, N. E., (2005) Formation of protein-coated iron minerals. *Dalton Transactions*: 3597-3610.
- Lindahl, M., Spetea, C., Hundal, T., Oppenheim, A. B., Adam, Z., and Andersson, B., (2000) The thylakoid FtsH protease plays a role in the light-induced turnover of the photosystem II D1 protein. *Plant Cell* **12**: 419-431.
- Lindahl, M., Tabak, S., Cseke, L., Pichersky, E., Andersson, B., and Adam, Z., (1996) Identification, characterization, and molecular cloning of a homologue of the bacterial FtsH protease in chloroplasts of higher plants. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271: 29329-29334.
- Lipinska, B., Fayet, O., Baird, L., and Georgopoulos, C., (1989) Identification, characterization, and mapping of the Escherichia coli htrA gene, whose product is essential for bacterial growth only at elevated temperatures. *Journal of Bacteriology* **171**: 1574-1584.
- Lipinska, B., Zylicz, M., and Georgopoulos, C., (1990) The HtrA (DegP) protein, essential for Escherichia coli survival at high temperatures, is an endopeptidase. *Journal of Bacteriology* **172**: 1791-1797.

- Liu, X., Rodermel, S. R., and Yu, F., (2010a) A var2 leaf variegation suppressor locus, suppressor of variegation 3, encodes a putative chloroplast translation elongation factor that is important for chloroplast development in the cold. *Bmc Plant Biology* **10**.
- Liu, X., Yu, F., and Rodermel, S., (2010b) Arabidopsis Chloroplast FtsH, var2 and Suppressors of var2 Leaf Variegation: a Review. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* **52**: 750-761.
- Liu, X., Yu, F., and Rodermel, S., (2010c) An Arabidopsis Pentatricopeptide Repeat Protein, suppressor of variegation 7, Is Required for FtsH-Mediated Chloroplast Biogenesis. *Plant Physiology* **154**: 1588-1601.
- Luciakova, K., Sokolikova, B., Chloupkova, M., and Nelson, B. D., (1999) Enhanced mitochondrial biogenesis is associated with increased expression of the mitochondrial ATP-dependent Lon protease. *Febs Letters* **444**: 186-188.
- Lucinski, R., Misztal, L., Samardakiewicz, S., and Jackowski, G., (2011) Involvement of Deg5 protease in wounding-related disposal of PsbF apoprotein. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **49**: 311-320.
- Makhalanyane, T. P., Valverde, A., Velazquez, D., Gunnigle, E., Van Goethem, M. W., Quesada, A., *et al.*, (2015) Ecology and biogeochemistry of cyanobacteria in soils, permafrost, aquatic and cryptic polar habitats. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **24**: 819-840.
- Makino, S., Makinoa, T., Abe, K., Hashimoto, J., Tatsuta, T., Kitagawa, M., *et al.*, (1999) Second transmembrane segment of FtsH plays a role in its proteolytic activity and homo-oligomerization. *Febs Letters* **460**: 554-558.
- Malnoe, A., Wang, F., Girard-Bascou, J., Wollman, F.-A., and de Vitry, C., (2014) Thylakoid FtsH Protease Contributes to Photosystem II and Cytochrome b(6)f Remodeling in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii under Stress Conditions. *Plant Cell* **26**: 373-390.
- Mann, N. H., Novac, N., Mullineaux, C. W., Newman, J., Bailey, S., and Robinson, C., (2000) Involvement of an FtsH homologue in the assembly of functional photosystem I in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp PCC 6803. *Febs Letters* **479**: 72-77.
- Martin, A., Baker, T. A., and Sauer, R. T., (2008) Pore loops of the AAA plus ClpX machine grip substrates to drive translocation and unfolding. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* **15**: 1147-1151.
- McDermott, C. J., Dayaratne, R. K., Tomkins, J., Lusher, M. E., Lindsey, J. C., Johnson, M. A., *et al.*, (2001) Paraplegin gene analysis in hereditary spastic paraparesis (HSP) pedigrees in northeast England. *Neurology* **56**: 467-471.
- Metodiev, M. V., (2005) Functional proteomics of MAPK-regulated cytoskeleton rearrangements in yeast. *Febs Journal* **272**: 557-557.
- Miura, E., Kato, Y., Matsushima, R., Albrecht, V., Laalami, S., and Sakamoto, W., (2007) The balance between protein synthesis and degradation in chloroplasts determines leaf variegation in Arabidopsis yellow variegated mutants. *Plant Cell* **19**: 1313-1328.
- Nakai, T., Yasuhara, T., Fujiki, Y., and Ohashi, A., (1995) Multiple genes, including a member of the AAA family, are essential for degradation of unassembled subunit 2 of cytochrome c oxidase in yeast mitochondria. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **15**: 4441-4452.

- Naqvi, N., Liu, K., Graham, R. M., and Husain, A., (2005) Molecular basis of exopeptidase activity in the C-terminal domain of human angiotensin I-converting enzyme -Insights into the origins of its exopeptidase activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280: 6669-6675.
- Nijtmans, L. G. J., de Jong, L., Sanz, M. A., Coates, P. J., Berden, J. A., Back, J. W., *et al.*, (2000) Prohibitins act as a membrane-bound chaperone for the stabilization of mitochondrial proteins. *Embo Journal* **19**: 2444-2451.
- Nishimura, K., and van Wijk, K. J., (2015) Organization, function and substrates of the essential Clp protease system in plastids. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Bioenergetics* **1847**: 915-930.
- Niwa, H., Tsuchiya, D., Makyio, H., Yoshida, M., and Morikawa, K., (2002) Hexameric ring structure of the ATPase domain of the membrane-integrated metalloprotease FtsH from Thermus thermophilus HB8. *Structure* **10**: 1415-1423.
- Nixon, P. J., Barker, M., Boehm, M., de Vries, R., and Komenda, J., (2005) FtsH-mediated repair of the photosystem II complex in response to light stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **56**: 357-363.
- Nixon, P. J., Michoux, F., Yu, J., Boehm, M., and Komenda, J., (2010) Recent advances in understanding the assembly and repair of photosystem II. *Annals of Botany* **106**: 1-16.
- Nolden, M., Ehses, S., Koppen, M., Bernacchia, A., Rugarli, E. I., and Langer, T., (2005) The m-AAA protease defective in hereditary spastic paraplegia controls ribosome assembly in mitochondria. *Cell* **123**: 277-289.
- Nonaka, G., Blankschien, M., Herman, C., Gross, C. A., and Rhodius, V. A., (2006) Regulon and promoter analysis of the E-coli heat-shock factor, sigma(32), reveals a multifaceted cellular response to heat stress. *Genes & Development* **20**: 1776-1789.
- Oelmuller, R., Herrmann, R. G., and Pakrasi, H. B., (1996) Molecular studies of CtpA, the carboxyl-terminal processing protease for the D1 protein of the photosystem II reaction center in higher plants. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **271**: 21848-21852.
- Ogura, T., Inoue, K., Tatsuta, T., Suzaki, T., Karata, K., Young, K., et al., (1999) Balanced biosynthesis of major membrane components through regulated degradation of the committed enzyme of lipid A biosynthesis by the AAA protease FtsH (HflB) in Escherichia coli. *Molecular Microbiology* **31**: 833-844.
- Ostersetzer, O., and Adam, Z., (1997) Light-stimulated degradation of an unassembled Rieske FeS protein by a thylakoid-bound protease: The possible role of the FtsH protease. *Plant Cell* **9**: 957-965.
- Paetzel, M., and Dalbey, R. E., (1997) Catalytic hydroxyl/amine dyads within serine proteases. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **22**: 28-31.
- Pearce, D. A., and Sherman, F., (1995) Degradation of cytochrome oxidase subunits in mutants of yeast lacking *cytochrome c* and suppression of the degradation by mutation of *yme1*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **270**: 20879-20882.
- Peschek, G. A., Obinger, C., and Paumann, M., (2004) The respiratory chain of blue-green algae (cyanobacteria). *Physiologia Plantarum* **120**: 358-369.
- Piechota, J., Kolodziejczak, M., Juszczak, I., Sakamoto, W., and Janska, H., (2010) Identification and Characterization of High Molecular Weight Complexes Formed by Matrix AAA Proteases and Prohibitins in Mitochondria of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285: 12512-12521.

- Pisareva, T., Kwon, J., Oh, J., Kim, S., Ge, C., Wieslander, A., et al., (2011) Model for Membrane Organization and Protein Sorting in the Cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp PCC 6803 Inferred from Proteomics and Multivariate Sequence Analyses. *Journal of Proteome Research* 10: 3617-3631.
- Pisareva, T., Shumskaya, M., Maddalo, G., Ilag, L., and Norling, B., (2007) Proteomics of Synechocystis sp PCC 6803 Identification of novel integral plasma membrane proteins. *Febs Journal* **274**: 791-804.
- Porankiewicz, J., Schelin, J., and Clarke, A. K., (1998) The ATP-dependent Clp protease is essential for acclimation to UV-B and low temperature in the cyanobacterium Synechococcus. *Molecular Microbiology* **29**: 275-283.
- Pruteanu, M., and Baker, T. A., (2009) Proteolysis in the SOS response and metal homeostasis in Escherichia coli. *Research in Microbiology* **160**: 677-683.
- Ramachandran, R., Hartmann, C., Song, H. K., Huber, R., and Bochtler, M., (2002) Functional interactions of HsIV (ClpQ) with the ATPase HsIU (ClpY). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**: 7396-7401.
- Ramundo, S., Casero, D., Muehlhaus, T., Hemme, D., Sommer, F., Crevecoeur, M., et al., (2014) Conditional Depletion of the Chlamydomonas Chloroplast ClpP Protease Activates Nuclear Genes Involved in Autophagy and Plastid Protein Quality Control. *Plant Cell* 26: 2201-2222.
- Rape, M., and Jentsch, S., (2004) Productive RUPture: activation of transcription factors by proteasomal processing. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research* **1695**: 209-213.
- Rawlings, N. D., and Barrett, A. J., (1999) MEROPS: the peptidase database. *Nucleic Acids Research* 27: 325-331.
- Rawlings, N. D., Waller, M., Barrett, A. J., and Bateman, A., (2014) MEROPS: the database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors. *Nucleic Acids Research* **42**: D503-D509.
- Roberts, I. N., Lam, X. T., Miranda, H., Kieselbach, T., and Funk, C., (2012) Degradation of PsbO by the Deg Protease HhoA Is Thioredoxin Dependent. *Plos One* **7**.
- Ruffing, A. M., (2011) Engineered cyanobacteria: teaching an old bug new tricks. *Bioengineered bugs* **2**: 136-149.
- Ruiz-Gonzalez, M. X., and Marin, I., (2006) Proteasome-related HsIU and HsIV genes typical of eubacteria are widespread in eukaryotes. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* **63**: 504-512.
- Saikawa, N., Akiyama, Y., and Ito, K., (2004) FtsH exists as an exceptionally large complex containing HflKC in the plasma membrane of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Structural Biology* **146**: 123-129.
- Sakamoto, W., Kato, Y., and Miura, E., (2010) Transcriptome in Arabidopsis yellow variegated 2 (var2). *ArrayExpress Archive*.
- Sakamoto, W., Tamura, T., Hanba-Tomita, Y., and Murata, M., (2002) The VAR1 locus of Arabidopsis encodes a chloroplastic FtsH and is responsible for leaf variegation in the mutant alleles. *Genes to Cells* **7**: 769-780.
- Scharfenberg, F., Serek-Heuberger, J., Coles, M., Hartmann, M. D., Habeck, M., Martin, J., *et al.*, (2015) Structure and Evolution of N-domains in AAA Metalloproteases. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **427**: 910-923.

- Schopf, J. W., (1996) Cyanobacteria: Pioneers of the early Earth. In: [Supplement to Nova Hedwigia; Contributions in phycology: Volume in honour of Professor T. V. Desikachary]. A. K. S. K. Prasad, J. A. Nienow & V. N. R. Rao (eds). pp. 13-32.
- Schopf, J. W., (2014) Geological evidence of oxygenic photosynthesis and the biotic response to the 2400-2200 Ma "Great Oxidation Event". *Biochemistry-Moscow* **79**: 165-177.
- Schumann, W., (1999) FtsH a single-chain charonin? *Fems Microbiology Reviews* 23: 1-11.
- Sciuto, K., and Moro, I., (2015) Cyanobacteria: the bright and dark sides of a charming group. Biodiversity and Conservation **24**: 711-738.
- Shi, T., and Falkowski, P. G., (2008) Genome evolution in cyanobacteria: The stable core and the variable shell. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**: 2510-2515.
- Shikanai, T., Shimizu, K., Ueda, K., Nishimura, Y., Kuroiwa, T., and Hashimoto, T., (2001) The chloroplast clpP gene, encoding a proteolytic subunit of ATP-dependent protease, is indispensable for chloroplast development in tobacco. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **42**: 264-273.
- Shotland, Y., Koby, S., Teff, D., Mansur, N., Oren, D. A., Tatematsu, K., *et al.*, (1997) Proteolysis of the phage lambda CII regulatory protein by FtsH (HflB) of Escherichia coli. *Molecular Microbiology* **24**: 1303-1310.
- Shotland, Y., Teff, D., Koby, S., Kobiler, O., and Oppenheim, A. B., (2000) Characterization of a conserved alpha-helical, coiled-coil motif at the C-terminal domain of the ATPdependent FtsH (HfIB) protease of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 299: 953-964.
- Silva, P., Thompson, E., Bailey, S., Kruse, O., Mullineaux, C. W., Robinson, C., *et al.*, (2003) FtsH is involved in the early stages of repair of photosystem II in Synechocystis sp PCC 6803. *Plant Cell* **15**: 2152-2164.
- Sinvany-Villalobo, G., Davydov, O., Ben-Ari, G., Zaltsman, A., Raskind, A., and Adam, Z., (2004) Expression in multigene families. Analysis of chloroplast and mitochondrial proteases. *Plant Physiology* **135**: 1336-1345.
- Sokolenko, A., Pojidaeva, E., Zinchenko, V., Panichkin, V., Glaser, V. M., Herrmann, R. G., *et al.*, (2002) The gene complement for proteolysis in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp PCC 6803 and Arabidopsis thaliana chloroplasts. *Current Genetics* **41**: 291-310.
- Spiers, A., Lamb, H. K., Cocklin, S., Wheeler, K. A., Budworth, J., Dodds, A. L., et al., (2002) PDZ domains facilitate binding of high temperature requirement protease A (HtrA) and tail-specific protease (Tsp) to heterologous substrates through recognition of the small stable RNA A (ssrA)-encoded peptide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 39443-39449.
- Spiess, C., Beil, A., and Ehrmann, M., (1999) A temperature-dependent switch from chaperone to protease in a widely conserved heat shock protein. *Cell* **97**: 339-347.
- Steglich, G., Neupert, W., and Langer, T., (1999) Prohibitins regulate membrane protein degradation by the m-AAA protease in mitochondria. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 19: 3435-3442.
- Stiburek, L., Cesnekova, J., Kostkova, O., Fornuskova, D., Vinsova, K., Wenchich, L., et al., (2012) YME1L controls the accumulation of respiratory chain subunits and is required for apoptotic resistance, cristae morphogenesis, and cell proliferation. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 23: 1010-1023.

- Stirnberg, M., Fulda, S., Huckauf, J., Hagemann, M., Kraemer, R., and Marin, K., (2007) A membrane-bound FtsH protease is involved in osmoregulation in Synechocystis sp PCC 6803: the compatible solute synthesizing enzyme GgpS is one of the targets for proteolysis. *Molecular Microbiology* 63: 86-102.
- Strauch, K. L., Johnson, K., and Beckwith, J., (1989) Characterization of degP, a gene required for proteolysis in the cell envelope and essential for growth of Escherichia coli at high temperature. *Journal of Bacteriology* **171**: 2689-2696.
- Suno, R., Niwa, H., Tsuchiya, D., Zhang, X. D., Yoshida, M., and Morikawa, K., (2006) Structure of the whole cytosolic region of ATP-dependent protease FtsH. *Molecular Cell* **22**: 575-585.
- Szklarczyk, D., Franceschini, A., Wyder, S., Forslund, K., Heller, D., Huerta-Cepas, J., et al., (2015) STRING v10: protein-protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life. *Nucleic Acids Research* **43**: D447-D452.
- Tam, L. X., Aigner, H., Timmerman, E., Gevaert, K., and Funk, C., (2015) Proteomic approaches to identify substrates of the three Deg/HtrA proteases of the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. *The Biochemical journal* **468**: 373-384.
- Teixeira, P. F., and Glaser, E., (2013) Processing peptidases in mitochondria and chloroplasts. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research **1833**: 360-370.
- Urantowka, A., Knorpp, C., Olczak, T., Kolodziejczak, M., and Janska, H., (2005) Plant mitochondria contain at least two i-AAA-like complexes. *Plant Molecular Biology* **59**: 239-252.
- van Roosmalen, M. L., Geukens, N., Jongbloed, J. D. H., Tjalsma, H., Dubois, J. Y. F., Bron, S., et al., (2004) Type I signal peptidases of gram-positive bacteria. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Cell Research* **1694**: 279-297.
- van Stelten, J., Silva, F., Belin, D., and Silhavy, T. J., (2009) Effects of Antibiotics and a Proto-Oncogene Homolog on Destruction of Protein Translocator SecY. *Science* **325**: 753-756.
- van Wijk, K. J., (2015) Protein Maturation and Proteolysis in Plant Plastids, Mitochondria, and Peroxisomes. *Annual Review of Plant Biology, Vol 66* **66**: 75-111.
- Vermaas, W. F. J., (1994) Molecular-genetic approaches to study photosynthetic and respiratory electron transport in thylakoids from cyanobacteria. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Bioenergetics* **1187**: 181-186.
- Vermaas, W. F. J., Ikeuchi, M., and Inoue, Y., (1988) Protein composition of the photosystem II core complex in genetically engineered mutants of the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 *Photosynthesis Research* **17**: 97-113.
- Wagner, R., Aigner, H., and Funk, C., (2012) FtsH proteases located in the plant chloroplast. *Physiologia Plantarum* **145**: 203-214.
- Wagner, R., Aigner, H., Pruzinska, A., Jankanpaa, H. J., Jansson, S., and Funk, C., (2011) Fitness analyses of Arabidopsis thaliana mutants depleted of FtsH metalloproteases and characterization of three FtsH6 deletion mutants exposed to high light stress, senescence and chilling. *New Phytologist* **191**: 449-458.
- Wang, P., Shim, E., Cravatt, B., Jacobsen, R., Schoeniger, J., Kim, A. C., et al., (2008) Escherichia coli signal peptide peptidase a is a serine-lysine protease with a lysine recruited to the nonconserved amino-terminal domain in the s49 protease family. *Biochemistry* 47: 6361-6369.

- Wang, X., Zhang, C., Shi, F., and Hu, X., (2010) Purification and Characterization of Lipopolysaccharides. In: Endotoxins: Structure, Function and Recognition. X. Wang & P. J. Quinn (eds). pp. 27-51.
- Weber, E. R., Hanekamp, T., and Thorsness, P. E., (1996) Biochemical and functional analysis of the YME1 gene product, an ATP and zinc-dependent mitochondrial protease from S-cerevisiae. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **7**: 307-317.
- Wegener, K. M., Singh, A. K., Jacobs, J. M., Elvitigala, T., Welsh, E. A., Keren, N., et al., (2010)
  Global Proteomics Reveal an Atypical Strategy for Carbon/Nitrogen Assimilation by a
  Cyanobacterium Under Diverse Environmental Perturbations. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics* 9.
- Whitmarsh, J., and Govindjee, (1999) The photosynthetic process. *Concepts in Photobiology*: 11-51.
- Wilkinson, P. A., Crosby, A. H., Turner, C., Bradley, L. J., Ginsberg, L., Wood, N. W., et al., (2004) A clinical, genetic and biochemical study of SPG7 mutations in hereditary spastic paraplegia. Brain 127: 973-980.
- Xu, H., Vavilin, D., Funk, C., and Vermaas, W., (2004) Multiple deletions of small cab-like proteins in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp PCC 6803 - Consequences for pigment biosynthesis and accumulation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279: 27971-27979.
- Xu, X., Niu, Y., Liang, K., Wang, J., Li, X., and Yang, Y., (2015) Heat shock transcription factor delta(32) is targeted for degradation via an ubiquitin-like protein ThiS in Escherichia coli. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **459**: 240-245.
- Yamada-Inagawa, T., Okuno, T., Karata, K., Yamanaka, K., and Ogura, T., (2003) Conserved pore residues in the AAA protease FtsH are important for proteolysis and its coupling to ATP hydrolysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**: 50182-50187.
- Yu, C., and Genco, C. A., (2012) Fur-Mediated Global Regulatory Circuits in Pathogenic Neisseria Species. *Journal of Bacteriology* **194**: 6372-6381.
- Yu, F., Park, S., and Rodermel, S. R., (2004) The Arabidopsis FtsH metalloprotease gene family: interchangeability of subunits in chloroplast oligomeric complexes. *Plant Journal* 37: 864-876.
- Yu, F., Park, S., and Rodermel, S. R., (2005) Functional redundancy of AtFtsH metalloproteases in thylakoid membrane complexes. *Plant Physiology* **138**: 1957-1966.
- Zak, E., Norling, B., Maitra, R., Huang, F., Andersson, B., and Pakrasi, H. B., (2001) The initial steps of biogenesis of cyanobacterial photosystems occur in plasma membranes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98: 13443-13448.
- Zaltsman, A., Feder, A., and Adam, Z., (2005) Developmental and light effects on the accumulation of FtsH protease in Arabidopsis chloroplasts implications for thylakoid formation and photosystem II maintenance. *Plant Journal* **42**: 609-617.
- Zhang, D., Kato, Y., Zhang, L., Fujimoto, M., Tsutsumi, N., Sodmergen, *et al.*, (2010) The FtsH Protease Heterocomplex in Arabidopsis: Dispensability of Type-B Protease Activity for Proper Chloroplast Development. *Plant Cell* **22**: 3710-3725.

- Zhang, P., Sicora, C., Vorontsova, N., Allahverdiyeva, Y., Battchikova, N., Nixon, P., et al., (2007a) Expression of inducible inorganic carbon acquisition complexes is under the control of the FtsH protease in Synechocystis sp PCC 6803. *Photosynthesis Research* 91: 223-223.
- Zhang, P., Sicora, C. I., Vorontsova, N., Allahverdlyeva, Y., Battchikova, N., Nixon, P. J., et al., (2007b) FtsH protease is required for induction of inorganic carbon acquisition complexes in Synechocystis sp PCC 6803. *Molecular Microbiology* 65: 728-740.
- Zhbanko, M., Zinchenko, V., Gutensohn, M., Schierhorn, A., and Klosgen, R. B., (2005) Inactivation of a predicted leader peptidase prevents photo autotrophic growth of Synechocystis sp strain PCC 6803. *Journal of Bacteriology* **187**: 3071-3078.